
 
 

 
 
 

DYDD MAWRTH, 9 MAWRTH 2021 
 
 

AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO 
 
 
 
 
YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD 
RHITHWIR O’R PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO A GYNHELIR AM 10.00 YB, 
DYDD MAWRTH, 16EG MAWRTH, 2021 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R 
MATERION A AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA SYDD YNGHLWM 
 
 

 

Wendy Walters 

 PRIF WEITHREDWR 

 
Swyddog Democrataidd: Martin S. Davies 

Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224059 

E-bost: MSDavies@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 

 
 

 

Pecyn Dogfennau



 

 

 

 

PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO 
20 AELOD 

 

 
 

Y GRŴP PLAID CYMRU – 10 AELOD 
1. Y Cynghorydd Mansel Charles Aelod o Gyngor Cymuned Llanegwad 
2. Y Cynghorydd Tyssul Evans Aelod o Gyngor Cymuned Llangyndeyrn 
3. Y Cynghorydd Jeanette Gilasbey Aelod o Gyngor Tref Cydweli 
4. Y Cynghorydd Ken Howell  
5.  Y Cynghorydd Carys Jones  

6. Y Cynghorydd Alun Lenny 
(Cadeirydd) 

Aelod o Gyngor Tref Caerfyrddin 

7. Y Cynghorydd Jean Lewis  
8 Y Cynghorydd Dorian Phillips  
9. Y Cynghorydd Gareth Thomas Aelod o Gyngor Cymuned Llanedi 
10 Y Cynghorydd Eirwyn Williams  
   
Y GRŴP LLAFUR – 4 AELOD 
1. Y Cynghorydd Penny Edwards  
2. Y Cynghorydd John James Aelod o Gyngor Tref Pen-bre a Phorth Tywyn 

3. Y Cynghorydd Dot Jones Aelod o Gyngor Cymuned Llannon 
5. Y Cynghorydd Kevin Madge Aelod o Gyngor Tref Cwmaman 
 
Y GRŴP ANNIBYNNOL – 4 AELOD 
1. Y Cynghorydd Sue Allen  
2. Y Cynghorydd Ieuan Davies  
3. Y Cynghorydd Joseph Davies  
4.  Y Cynghorydd Irfon Jones (Is-

Gadeirydd) 
Aelod o Gyngor Cymuned Bronwydd 

 
Y GRŴP ANNIBYNNOL NEWYDD – 2 AELOD 
1.       Lle Gwag 
2.       Lle Gwag 

 
CANIATEIR EILYDDION  TAN Y 30AIN O EBRILL 2021 

 

 



 

 

  
 

 
 

 

A G E N D A   
 

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB   

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL   

3. RHANBARTH Y GORLLEWIN - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU 
CYNLLUNIO  

5 - 30 

4. RHANBARTH Y DE - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO  31 - 64 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
ADRODDIAD PENNAETH 

CYNLLUNIO, 
CYFARWYDDIAETH YR AMGYLCHEDD 

 
REPORT OF THE  

HEAD OF PLANNING, 
DIRECTORATE OF ENVIRONMENT 

 
AR GYFER PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO 

CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN/ 
 

TO CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL’S PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
AR  16 Mawrth 2021 
ON 16 March 2021 

 
I’W BENDERFYNU/ 

FOR DECISION 

 
 

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  3



 

 

 

 

 

 

Mewn perthynas â cheisiadau y mae gan y Cyngor ddiddordeb ynddynt un ai fel 

ymgeisydd/asiant neu fel perchennog tir neu eiddo, atgoffir yr Aelodau fod yn rhaid 

iddynt anwybyddu’r agwedd hon, gan ystyried ceisiadau o’r fath a phenderfynu yn eu 

cylch ar sail rhinweddau’r ceisiadau cynllunio yn unig. Ni ddylid ystyried swyddogaeth 

y Cyngor fel perchennog tir, na materion cysylltiedig, wrth benderfynu ynghylch 

ceisiadau cynllunio o’r fath. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In relation to those applications which are identified as one in which the Council has 

an interest either as applicant/agent or in terms of land or property ownership, 

Members are reminded that they must set aside this aspect, and confine their 

consideration and determination of such applications exclusively to the merits of the 

planning issues arising.  The Council’s land owning function, or other interests in the 

matter, must not be taken into account when determining such planning applications. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 6



 
 

 
COMMITTEE: 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: 

 

 
16.03.2021 

 
REPORT OF: 

 

 
HEAD OF PLANNING 

 
 
 

I N D E X  -  A R E A  WEST 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REF. APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR 
APPROVAL 

 

PAGE NOS. 
 

W/39810 CHANGE OF USE OF LAND TO RESIDENTIAL 
CURTILAGE AND BARN CONVERSION TO AN 
ANNEX OF THE MAIN DWELLING 
GELLI DRYGAR, TRAWSDRE ROAD, 
CEFNEITHIN, LLANELLI, SA14 7HL 

 

9 - 21 
 

PL/00725 DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 7, 11, 13 & 22 ON 
W/31728 (DETAILS OF ASSIGNED 
ARCHAEOLOGIST, CONSTRUCTION METHOD 
STATEMENT, DETAILS OF HYDROLOGICAL AND 
ECOLOGICAL CLERK OF WORKS, TV 
RECEPTION STUDY) LAND NORTH OF 
ESGAIRLIVING FARM, RHYDCYMERAU, 
LLANDEILO, SA19 7RG 

 

22 - 29 
 

Tudalen 7



 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
APPLICATIONS  RECOMMENDED  FOR  APPROVAL 

 

 

 

Tudalen 8



 

 
Application No 
 

 
W/39819 

 

 
Application Type 
 

 
FULL 

Proposal & 
Location 

CHANGE OF USE OF LAND TO RESIDENTIAL CURTILAGE AND 
BARN CONVERSION TO AN ANNEX OF THE MAIN DWELLING 
GELLI DRYGAR, TRAWSDRE ROAD, CEFNEITHIN, LLANELLI, 
SA14 7HL 
 

 

Applicant(s) MR & MRS N. DURBIN 
 

Agent NICOLE JONES ARCHITECT 
 

Case Officer 
 

EILIAN JONES 

Ward GORSLAS 
 

Date registered 21 NOVEMBER 2019 
 

 

Reason for Committee 
 
This application is being reported to the Planning Committee following the receipt of more 
than one objection from third parties. 
 

Site 
 
The site consists of a farm known as Gelli Drygar, located adjacent to the A48, near 
Foelgastell. The farm contains the farmhouse and various outbuildings within the yard. All 
buildings are grouped relatively close together, albeit the farm access separates the house 
from the outbuildings. The site access connects to an unclassified rural lane which is 
generally in a north-south alignment. Historically, it would appear that the southern part of 
the connected to Foelgastell. However, since the construction of the A48, the unclassified 
road has been severed and is now a no-though road. The northern part of the lane is a 
traditional narrow rural lane connecting to various C-Class roads with Maesybont being the 
nearest village or to a formalised junction with the A48 itself. 
 

Proposal  
 
The proposal involves the conversion and re-use of an agricultural building to provide 
additional ancillary accommodation to the dwellinghouse. The conversion process would 
involve alterations to the building, including an extension. Since the building is detached 
from the dwellinghouse and is located adjacent to the yard, the proposal also involves the 
change of use of the land to be incorporated in the residential curtilage of the main 
dwellinghouse. 
 

Tudalen 9



Planning Site History 
 
D4/15482  Conversion of Existing Farmhouse into Two Dwellings 
Full Granted  14 January 1988 
 

Planning Policy 
 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (Adopted December 2014) (CLDP)  
 
SP1 Sustainable Places and Spaces       
SP2 Climate Change         
SP3 Sustainable Distribution- Settlement Framework  
SP14 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 
GP1 Sustainability and High Quality Design 
GP4 Infrastructure and New Development 
H5 Adaptation and Re-use of Rural Buildings for Residential Use 
TR2 Location of Development – Transport Considerations 
TR3 Highways in Developments – Design Considerations 
EQ4 Biodiversity  
EP1 Water Quality and Resources 
EP2 Pollution 
EP3 Sustainable Drainage 
 
Carmarthenshire Supplementary Planning Guidance   
The following guidance documents are considered relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
Caeau Mynydd Mawr SPG 
Nature Conservation and Biodiversity SPG 
Adaption and Re-use of Rural Buildings for Residential Use SPG 
Placemaking and Design SPG 
 
National Planning Policy and Guidance 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 10, December 2018 is considered relevant to the 
determination of this application. 
 
The following Technical Advice Notes (TANs) published by Welsh Government are 
considered relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) seeks to ensure that protected species, 
habitats and designated sites are both protected and conserved by the planning system. 
 
TAN 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010) seeks to provide practical 
guidance on the role of the planning system in supporting the delivery of sustainable rural 
communities. 
 
TAN 12 Design (2016) seeks to promote sustainability principles through good design and 
identifies how Local Planning Authorities can facilitate this process through the planning 
system. 
 

 

Tudalen 10

http://www.cartogold.co.uk/CarmarthenshireLDP/english/text/00_Contents.htm
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-guidance-spg/#.XsU2nmyouUk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/3699/caeau-mynydd-mawr-spg-adopted.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/3723/nat-env-and-biodiversity-draft-spg.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/3702/spg-adapt-and-re-use-adopted-version.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1213904/adopted-placemaking-design-spg-report.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes


Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Gorslas Community Council - No written observations received to date. 
 
Local Member(s) -  No written observations received to date. 
 
Head of Transportation & Highways - No objections to the proposal subject to 
conditions. 
 
Head of Public Protection - No adverse comments to make on the proposal. 
 
Drainage Officer – No objections to the proposal  
 
Natural Resources Wales – No objections to the proposal. Advise that a European 
Protected Species Licence would be required. 
 
Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water – No objections to the proposal. 
 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 

Summary of Public Representations 

 
The application was the subject of notification by way of site notice.  
 
4 representations were received, 4 objecting, and the matters raised are summarised as 
follows: 
 
1. Increase in traffic and highway safety 
2. Concerns that the proposal would not be solely residential and that it could be 

potentially use for business/commercial use which would not be compatible with 
neighbouring uses 

3. Proposal would set a precedent and history of refusals for residential development in 
the area 

4. Impact on Ecology/Biodiversity, including trees and Caeau Mynydd Mawr 
5. Impact on residential amenity, including loss of privacy, noise and anti-social 

behaviour 
 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 

Appraisal 
 
The proposal involves the conversion and re-use or an agricultural building to provide 
additional ancillary accommodation to the dwellinghouse. The conversion process would 
involve alterations to the building, including an extension. Since the building is detached 
from the dwellinghouse and is located adjacent to the yard, the proposal also involves the 
change of use of the land to be incorporated in the residential curtilage of the main 
dwellinghouse. 
 
Planning history indicates that permission was granted for the conversion and extension of 
the main dwellinghouse into two separate units of accommodation. Correspondence with 
the applicant and agent explains that in 1988 the property contained two separate 

Tudalen 11

http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp
http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


residential units but there was a familial link between the two. Due to subsequent need for 
additional care to be provided for some occupants, the building was adjusted and became 
a single dwellinghouse. 
 
Principle of Development, Design, Impact on Visual Amenity and the Character, 
Appearance and Integrity of the Countryside 
 
It is understood that there are several generations of the family residing in the main house 
and that the elder members require day to day care, which is largely provided by younger 
members. The younger generation have children and the existing farmhouse does not 
have sufficient space to accommodate their needs as they intend to continue living as a 
single family. The agent has clarified that extending the farmhouse would not provide 
sufficient space but since there was an agricultural building nearby that was not being 
used, it was determined that its conversion and adaptation would be their preferred option.  
 
Whilst the agricultural building is detached, it is within the farmyard and within close 
proximity to the farmhouse, thereby enabling care to be provided within the family, whilst 
retaining some semi-independent living between different generations. The agent has 
clarified that the applicant wishes to keep the farm as one planning unit and do not intend 
to separate the titles. The proposal therefore is considered as a form of ancillary annex to 
the main farmhouse rather than forming separate units of accommodation. The application 
is therefore assessed on that basis, whereby the existing farmhouse, the proposed 
converted agricultural building and the extended curtilage would be kept as one planning 
unit. 
 
The site is located outside the development limits of a defined settlement and, therefore, is 
deemed to be in the countryside. Development is such areas are strictly controlled, largely 
to protect the character, appearance and integrity of the countryside and direct the majority 
of developments to urban and sustainable locations. Notwithstanding this, certain 
developments are permitted within the countryside provided that their use and need is 
justified. In the case of this particular planning application, the principle of the proposal and 
several detailed aspects of the scheme is considered largely against Policies H5 and GP6 
of the LDP. 
 
The proposal involves a traditional stone and rendered barn which is rectangular in shape. 
It has a pitched roof, currently covered by corrugated metal sheeting. Whilst the barn is 
located on sloping ground, it has a uniformed eaves and ridge heights.  
 
In the context of Policy H5 of the LDP, whilst limited information has been submitted to 
demonstrate that attempts have been made to secure an alternative business use, it is 
concluded that given the remote location of the site, its close proximity to the farmhouse 
and to the farmyard, it would not be conducive in attracting another business. It has been 
deemed to be surplus to requirements in terms of agricultural need which was evident 
during the site visit whereby it was subject to limited storage use and other barns were 
available and in use. It is therefore considered that criterion a) of Policy H5 has reasonably 
been met. 
 
With regards to criterion b) of Policy H5, it is acknowledged that the overall aim of the 
project is to provide ancillary accommodation to the farmhouse rather than forming a 
separate dwelling. Given the subordination of the residential use of the barn to the main 
farmhouse and that the proposal would not inhibit the wider site to continue undertaking 
agricultural activities under a single planning-unit, it is considered that this criteria has 

Tudalen 12



been met. Furthermore, given the number of buildings within the yard, it is considered that 
the proposed conversion of one of those buildings would be subordinate with reasonable 
balance between residential and non-residential buildings at the site. 
 
Criterion c) of Policy H5 requires any residential conversion to contribute to the provision 
of affordable housing. In the case of this application, the scheme is essentially a 
householder proposal, providing additional habitable floorspace to an existing 
dwellinghouse, albeit in a detached building. As such, it is considered in this particular 
instance that the proposal would not generate the need to secure contributions. 
Notwithstanding this, it is considered reasonable and necessary to impose a condition 
which restricts the use of the building for purposes which are ancillary to the main 
farmhouse. This would enable contributions to be secured should there be any attempt in 
future to apply for planning permission to create a separate residential unit, thereby 
promoting sustainable development and meeting the affordable housing objectives of the 
LDP. Also such a condition would be necessary to avoid any doubt or ambiguity 
surrounding the extent of any permission issued, given that the description of the 
development is that of an annex, supported by evidence of need for ancillary 
accommodation for an expanding family, spanning several generations but living as a 
single-planning unit with some members offering care and support to others within the 
household. Having regard to the above, it is considered that criterion c) of Policy H5 is 
met. 
 
With regards to criteria d) and e) of Policy H5, a structural survey has been submitted 
indicating that the building is capable of being converted with extensive alteration, 
extension or re-construction. Notwithstanding this, there would be changes being made, 
the most noticeable would be the construction of a new roof, the need to install a ring 
beam to support the walls and an extension on the rear elevation. 
 
With regards to the new roof and ring beam, this would involve raising the eaves height of 
the building by approximately 600mm which is the minimum needed to install the ring 
beams. With the inclusion of a new roof on top, the overall height of the barn would be 
increased by approximately 700mm. Whilst this increase is not ideal, it is concluded that 
the overall character and appearance of the building would not, on balance, be unduly 
harmed. This is especially when this would enable a consistent eaves and ridge height 
across the building with no significant change in the pitch of the main roof, which are key 
to reflecting the character of the existing building. 
 
With regards to the extension, this would be located on the rear. It is understood that the 
building did historically have a structure in this position however this has been demolished 
many years ago with no clear evidence on its size, design or appearance. Some remnants 
of the ruin of this structure is visible, and a section of the main part of the building has 
been left as an opening. Nevertheless, having regard to the above, it is considered that a 
limited extension in this location could be accepted, in principle, without unreasonable 
harm to the character and appearance of the host building and the wider countryside 
setting. This is reinforced by this part of the elevation being devoid of any significant 
architectural features due to the large opening and it being on the rear.  
 
Following extensive negotiation, the scale and size of this extension has been reduced to 
ensure that it would not represent an extensive extension in the context of criteria d) and 
e) of Policy H5. The proposed extension would measure 4m x 5.3m with a pitched roof 
reaching maximum heights of 2.2m (eaves) and 3.9m (eaves). It would be finished in 

Tudalen 13



render and slate and have a scale and design which is subordinate to the main part of the 
building. 
 
The building is located in a rather remote location and away from significant or prominent 
views in the landscape. This is largely due to the sloping nature of the topography and the 
building appearing in a sunken position when viewed from the nearest public position 
which is an unclassified road and is a no-through road. This public position is at an 
approximate distance of 50m and screened by various trees, hedgerows and grazing 
fields. 
 
It is considered that the proposal with the proposed alterations and extensions, would not, 
on balance, result in unreasonable harm to visual amenity or to the wider countryside 
setting. This traditional agricultural building demonstrates sufficient architectural quality to 
be considered appropriate for conversion in the first instance whilst sufficient features 
would be retained following the proposed alterations and extensions, with some additional 
visual benefits derived from a slate roof finish instead of metal sheeting and original 
stonework repaired. It is however considered necessary to impose a condition for the 
agreement of all external finishes, to ensure that they are appropriate and sympathetic to 
this building and its rural surroundings. It is also considered necessary to impose 
conditions for the joinery of all windows, doors, openings and roof lights to be agreed and 
also full details of the external flue, so that they are sympathetic to the character and 
appearance of the building. A further condition removing permitted development rights is 
also reasonable and necessary to ensure that any future extensions of alterations made to 
the building is brought under planning control. Subject to this, it is considered that the 
proposal, on balance, satisfies criteria d) and e) of Policy H5. 
 
Due to the nature of the proposal, the extent of the residential curtilage of the property 
would be extended. This however has been kept to a minimum, as demonstrated by the 
revised location and block plans which shows a small maintenance pathway around the 
side and rear of the building to be converted with a marginal larger space for a small patio 
area at the rear. Limiting the outdoor space surrounding the converted building reinforces 
the rationale for the proposal which is to provide ancillary accommodation to the main 
farmhouse and not form a separate dwelling, especially since the main farmhouse already 
has adequate provision of outdoor amenity space.  
 
Policy GP6 is also considered relevant since this proposal would essentially represent an 
enlargement of the residential curtilage of Gelli Drygar and the provision of an annex 
extension for ancillary purposes to that property. Having regard to the assessment made 
under Policy H5, it is concluded that the proposal, subject to conditions, would also be 
compatible with the criteria of Policy GP6. 
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that this proposal would effectively provide a large annex 
containing 4 bedrooms with all facilities capable of independent occupation, the proposal is 
assessed on its own merits and what has been applied for is an ancillary annex to Gelli 
Drygar farmhouse whereby there is a justified need for the development and that it would 
be kept as one planning unit. It is also recognised that the majority of the development 
would derive from utilising an existing building and the alterations and extension made to 
be building would not, on balance, result in unreasonable harm to visual amenity or to the 
wider countryside setting. Regard is also given to recent decisions made by the Planning 
Committee relating to rural development proposals and how such Policies have been more 
broadly interpretated (examples: W/39684, W/39913 and PL/00101). 
 

Tudalen 14



Residential Amenity 
 
The proposal is generally in a remote location and away from immediate neighbouring 
properties. The nearest neighbouring property is Gelli Drygar Cottage which is located on 
the corner between the unclassified road and the private drive leading to the application 
site. The distance between this neighbouring property and the agricultural building to be 
converted is approximately 30m and approximately 14m separates the building and the 
neighbouring curtilage. The proposal is largely associated with an existing building albeit 
an overall increase in height of approximately 700mm and a single-storey extension at the 
rear. The application site however is located on a lower level and the private access drive, 
trees and hedgerows separate the two curtilages. No windows within the converted 
building would directly face the neighbouring property. The first-floor window on the side 
elevation serving a bedroom would have an indirect relationship, largely facing the private 
drive leading to the site and the adjacent field. Furthermore, there would be sufficient 
distance, screening and topographical factors present to ensure that there would not be 
any unreasonable harm to the amenities of the neighbouring property. 
 
Whilst there may be a degree of noise and disruption to the neighbouring property during 
the conversion process, these matters are unfortunately a by-product of any development, 
from domestic extensions to larger developments. However, it is considered that these 
matters would be temporary and do not hold significant weight in the determination of this 
application to withhold permission. Once the conversion process is completed, it is 
considered that its use as an ancillary annex to Gelli Drygar farmhouse would not generate 
significant levels of adverse noise nor would a residential use in principle, lead to anti-
social behaviour or unreasonable harm to the amenities of this neighbouring property. It is 
considered that no other property would be directly affected by the proposal. The Public 
Protection Department of the Council do not have any objections to the proposal. 
 
It is noted that concerns have been raised about a potential commercial use arising from 
the proposed development. However, the proposal is assessed on the basis of what is 
applied for, namely an ancillary annex to Gelli Drygar farmhouse with the plans 
demonstrating a domestic use which is compatible with neighbouring uses. 
Notwithstanding this, it is considered reasonable and necessary to impose a condition 
which restricts the use of the building for purposes which are ancillary to the main 
farmhouse which would ensure that it would not become a separate dwelling house or for 
uses which are materially commercial. 
 
Ecology/Biodiversity 
 
The proposal would not involve the felling of any trees or would unduly affect any 
significant landscape features surrounding the site. The proposal would however largely 
involve utilising an existing building and given its condition and rural location, an ecological 
survey report has been submitted. The report indicates that there is evidence of bats using 
the building and, as such, a European Protected Species Licence would be required which 
is a separate consenting process. Notwithstanding this, the Council’s Ecologist and 
Natural Resources Wales do not have any objections to this planning application subject to 
conditions for the development to be carried out in accordance with the ecological survey 
report, an agreement of ecological enhancements and the agreement of any external 
lighting.  
 
 

Tudalen 15



The site is located within the catchment of the Caeau Mynydd Mawr Special Area of 
Conservation. Since this proposal would be an ancillary annex to Gelli Drygar farmhouse 
which largely utilises an existing building, it is considered that it does not generate the 
need for contributions towards ecology.  
 
Drainage and Utilities/Infrastructure 
 
The site is not within a flood risk area defined by Welsh Government Technical Advice 
Note 15. Since the proposal is deemed as householder development and likely to be 
below the requirements for separate SAB approval, further details on drainage was 
requested during consideration of this planning application. Since the development largely 
utilises an existing building with only a relatively small extension and changes to the 
outdoor spaces, it is considered that the proposal would not generate any significant 
increase in surface water or flood risk. It is understood that the intention of the proposal is 
to create soakaways which would lead into the grazing field at the rear of the building. 
Percolation tests have been submitted and reviewed by the Council’s Drainage Officer 
who is satisfied that this would be possible, and no objections are raised. 
 
Limited details have been provided with regards to foul water, however it is understood 
that the site is not within reasonable proximity to a public sewer and that the current 
farmhouse utilises a private system. The application forms indicate that a septic tank 
would be used. Welsh Water and Natural Resources Wales have not raised any objections 
to the proposal. Since this proposal would be an ancillary annex to Gelli Drygar 
farmhouse, it is considered that the proposed arrangements are acceptable and would not 
generate pollution. It is however considered reasonable to impose a condition which 
restrict surface water from discharging into the foul drainage system. Given the proximity 
of the proposed converted building to the existing farmhouse, it is considered that the site 
would have other utilities and infrastructure necessary to support the proposed 
development. 
 
Access, Parking and Highway Safety 
 
It is acknowledged that this proposal would provide additional residential space in a 
relatively remote and rural location, with narrow lanes leading to the site. However, this 
proposal would be an ancillary annex to Gelli Drygar farmhouse and conditions would be 
imposed so that it could not form a separate dwellinghouse or for uses which are 
materially commercial. As such, it is considered that the overall site, inclusive of the 
proposal, would remain as a single planning-unit and there is sufficient space within the 
curtilage of the site for parking. Enabling all family members to be present on the site, and 
being on-hand to offer immediate care, would effectively limit traffic movements to and 
from the site.  
 
The Highways Authority have carefully reviewed the proposal and on the basis that it 
would be an ancillary annex to Gelli Drygar farmhouse, with conditions to control its use, 
they have no objections. It is therefore considered that the proposal would not be unduly 
detrimental to highway safety or unsustainable in transportation terms. 
 
Other Matters 
 
In response to other matter raised by third parties which are not already covered within this 
report, the following response is provided. 
 

Tudalen 16



Concerns have been raised that this proposal would set a precedent and that there have 
been refusals for residential uses within the area. Each application is assessed on its own 
merits and in context to adopted planning policies and guidelines. This submission is for 
an ancillary annex to Gelli Drygar farmhouse and would largely involve the conversion of 
an existing building. The proposal been assessed against the relevant policies and 
guidelines, in particular Policy H5 of the LDP which specifically considers adaptation and 
re-use of rural buildings for residential use. Having reviewed the planning history of the 
area, previous refusals were associated with the construction of a new building for a rural 
enterprise and had circumstances which were materially different to that presented in this 
particular application. As such, only limited weight could be attributed to those factors. 
 

Planning Obligations 
 
Due to the nature of the proposal, namely an ancillary annex to Gelli Drygar farmhouse 
which largely involves the conversion of an existing building, it is considered that this 
proposal would not generate the need for contributions towards affordable housing or 
towards ecology (Caeau Mynydd Mawr). Notwithstanding this, it is considered reasonable 
and necessary to impose a condition which restricts the use of the building for purposes 
which are ancillary to the main farmhouse. This would enable contributions to be secured 
should there be any attempt in future to apply for planning permission to create a separate 
residential unit, thereby promoting sustainable development and meeting the affordable 
housing objectives of the LDP. 
 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The decision considers the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG 
Act). The decision takes into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG 
Act and it is considered that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ 
well-being objectives set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 

Conclusion 

 
After careful consideration of the scheme as submitted it is concluded, on balance, that the 
proposed development accords with Policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP14, GP1, GP4, H5, TR2, 
TR3, EQ4, EP1, EP2 and EP3 of the LDP.  
 
This agricultural building benefits from architectural merit and is structurally sound and 
capable of conversion without extensive alteration, extension or re-construction. This 
agricultural building benefits from architectural merit and is structurally sound and capable 
of conversion without extensive alteration, extension or re-construction. The proposal, 
whereby the existing Gelli Drygar farmhouse, the proposed converted building to be used 
as an ancillary annex to the farmhouse and extended curtilage, would be kept as one 
planning unit, represents an acceptable form of development which would not, on balance, 
unreasonably harm the spatial and rural character and appearance of the area or deemed 
to be contrary to the objective of delivering sustainable development. Furthermore, the 
proposal would not have any significant adverse effect on visual amenity, highway safety, 
ecology/biodiversity or drainage infrastructure. 
 

Tudalen 17



Conditions and Reasons 
 
Condition 1 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: 
Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 
Condition 2 

 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
schedule of plans and documents: 
 
A – Location Map [dated 17/10/2020, Scale 1:1000 (received 13 November 2020) 
B – Block Plan [dated 17/10/2020, Scale 1:500] (received 13 November 2020) 
 
1 – Existing Floorplan [dated 28/05/2019, Scale 1:100] (received 25 June 2019) 
2 – Existing Elevations [dated 25/05/2019, Scale 1:100] (received 25 June 2019) 
3 – Proposed Floorplans [dated 30/12/2020, Scale 1:100] (received 4 January 2021) 
4 – Proposed Elevations [dated 06/11/2020, Scale 1:100] (received 13 November 2020) 
 
Survey for Bats & Barn Owls [September 2018] (Conducted by N. Bunn, Bat & Barn Owl 
Surveying Services, received 25 June 2019). 
 
Reason: 
In the interests of visual amenity, residential amenity, ecology/biodiversity and for the 
avoidance of doubt or confusion as to the extent of the permission hereby granted. 
 
Condition 3 
 
The development hereby approved shall be used for private domestic purposes which is 
ancillary to the enjoyment of the host dwellinghouse known as Gelli Drygar only and for no 
other purpose (including any other purpose in Class C3 of the Schedule to the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in 
any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification). 
At no time shall a separate curtilage be established, or the development be let, leased, 
sold or otherwise disposed of as separate units of accommodation nor shall the 
development be used for trade or commercial purposes. 
 
Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt or confusion as to the extent of the permission hereby granted 
and to clarify the nature and justified need of the development and avoid the creation of 
dwellings in the open countryside. Also, in the interests of sustainable development, 
highway safety and residential amenities. 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 18



Condition 4 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 [as amended] (or any order revoking, amending and 
re-enacting that Order), no development of the types described in Schedule 2, Part 1, 
Classes A, B, C, D, E and G shall be carried out to any part of the development hereby 
approved without the written permission of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
To exert control over the future development of the site. In the interests of visual amenity 
and to protect the integrity, character and appearance of the building and the surrounding 
countryside. Also, in the interests of residential amenity, general amenity and highway 
safety. 
 
Condition 5 
 
Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development shall commence until a detailed 
specification for, or samples of, the materials to be used in the construction of the external 
surfaces of the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
In the interests of visual amenity and to protect the character and appearance of the 
building, its setting and the wider countryside. 
 
Condition 6 
 
No development shall commence until the size, design, material, appearance and joinery 
of all windows, doors and external openings (including roof lights) of the development 
hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Development shall be implemented as approved and completed prior to the 
beneficial use of the approved development. 
 
Reason: 
In the interests of visual amenity and to protect the character and appearance of the 
building, its setting and the wider countryside. 
 
Condition 7 
 
No development shall commence until a scheme of ecological enhancements and a 
timetable for its implementation have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be designed in accordance with the document 
Survey for Bats & Barn Owls [September 2018] (Conducted by N. Bunn, Bat & Barn Owl 
Surveying Services, received 25 June 2019). The scheme shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details and timetable and thereafter retained in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: 
In the interests of ecology/biodiversity. 
 
 
 

Tudalen 19



Condition 8 
 
Prior to the installation of any external lighting, a detailed lighting plan, focusing particularly 
on minimising lighting impacts to features of importance to nocturnal wildlife and 
maintaining flight lines and dark corridors, in accordance with the recommendations within 
Appendix 2 of the document Survey for Bats & Barn Owls [September 2018] (Conducted 
by N. Bunn, Bat & Barn Owl Surveying Services, received 25 June 2019), shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting shall be 
installed in accordance with the approved lighting plan. 
 
Reason: 
In the interests of ecology/biodiversity. 
 
Condition 9 
 

Surface water from the development hereby approved shall not at any time discharge into 
any foul drainage system. 
 
Reason:  
To prevent overloading of the system, the interests of pollution prevention, to protect the 
environment and general amenities. 
 
 

Notes 
 
Note 1 
 
Please note that this permission is specific to the plans and particulars approved as part of 
the application.  Any departure from the approved plans will constitute unauthorised 
development and may be liable to enforcement action.  You (or any subsequent 
developer) should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations from the 
approved plans immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve the matter. 
 
In addition, any conditions which the Council has imposed on this permission will be listed 
above and should be read carefully. It is your (or any subsequent developers’) 
responsibility to ensure that the terms of all conditions are met in full at the appropriate 
time (as outlined in the specific condition). 
 
The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
conditions which require the submission of details prior to commencement of development 
will constitute unauthorised development.  This will necessitate the submission of a further 
application to retain the unauthorised development and may render you liable to formal 
enforcement action. 
 
Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any conditions could 
result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form of a Breach of 
Condition Notice. 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 20



Note 2 
 
Comments and guidance received from consultees relating to this application, including 
any other permissions or consents required, is available on the Authority’s website 
(www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 21

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/


 

 
Application No 
 

 
PL/00725 

 

 
Application Type 
 

 
Discharge of Condition 

Proposal & 
Location 
 

DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 7, 11, 13 & 22 ON W/31728 
(DETAILS OF ASSIGNED ARCHAEOLOGIST, CONSTRUCTION 
METHOD STATEMENT, DETAILS OF HYDROLOGICAL AND 
ECOLOGICAL CLERK OF WORKS, TV RECEPTION STUDY) 
LAND NORTH OF ESGAIRLIVING FARM, RHYDCYMERAU, 
LLANDEILO, SA19 7RG 
 

 

Applicant(s) EnergieKontor UK Ltd 
 

Agent N/A 
 

Case Officer 
 

Gary Glenister 

Ward Llanybydder 
 

Date registered 
 

05/11/20 

 

Reason for Committee 
 
This application is being reported to the Planning Committee following the receipt of more 
than one objection from third parties. 
 

Site 
 
The site of the approved turbines is an upland area of the county with a scattering of 
individual farmsteads and residential properties dispersed within the landscape.  The area 
is characterised by a mix of upland pasture and forestry plantations with an elevation of 
approximately 354m AOD.  The site is to the North of the B4337 which links Llanybydder 
and Rhydcymerau.  A minor road runs to the North and East accessing properties. 
 
Access to the turbines is proposed through a holding known as Esgairliving with use and 
upgrading of an existing farm track with an improved junction proposed onto the B4337. 
 
The sparsely populated area has a scattering of residential properties.  The landscape 
officer’s report on the original application stated that there were 5 dwellings within 1km of 
the site.  None of the dwellings are within 500m which is the guide for larger wind farm 
development set out in National guidance so whilst not directly applicable provides a 
guide. 
 
Planning permission for two 100m turbines was approved in 2016 and this application 
seeks to discharge conditions in respect of this extant permission.  Subsequently an 

Tudalen 22



application to amend the turbine type to allow 125m turbines was submitted and refused 
by Carmarthenshire County Council in 2018.  The applicant took the refusal to appeal 
which was allowed by the Welsh Government on the recommendation of the Planning 
Inspectorate.  However, a third party challenged the Welsh Government and won at the 
Court of Appeal so the decision was quashed.   
 

Proposal  
 
This application seeks to discharge Conditions 7 (Archaeology), 11 (Construction Method 
Statement), 13 (Ecology and Hydrology) and 22 (TV Reception) of planning permission 
W/31728.  
 
Analysis of the conditions, supporting information and consultation responses are set out 
in the appraisal section below. 
 
It should be noted that this application is for discharge of condition only and is not 
examining the merits of the scheme itself which has extant planning permission. 
 

Planning Site History 
 
The following previous applications have been received on the application site: 
 
W/39299 - non material amendment to w/31728 (installation and 25 year operation of two 
wind turbines, with a tip height of up to 100m, and associated infrastructure including 
turbine foundations, new and upgraded tracks, crane hardstandings, substation, upgraded 
site entrance and temporary construction compound (major development)) which seeks to 
split the discharging of condition 12 into two phases  
- non-material amendment granted 03/09/2019 
 
W/39125 - discharge of conditions 7, 11, 13, and 21 on w/31728 (archaeologist presence, 
construction method statement, ecological and hydrological clerk of works and habitat 
management plan)  
- discharge of planning condition refused 26/11/2019 
 
W/34341 - variation of condition 2 on w/31728 (turbine height) - variation of planning 
condition  
refused - appeal upheld 14/02/2018 
 
W/32967 - discharge of condition 2 on w/31702 (installation of infra-red aviation warning 
lights)  
- discharge of planning condition granted 23/11/2015 
 
W/31728 - installation and 25 year operation of two wind turbines, with a tip height of up to 
100m, and associated infrastructure including turbine foundations, new and upgraded 
tracks, crane hardstandings, substation, upgraded site entrance and temporary 
construction compound(major development) 
 - full granted 08/03/2016 

 
Planning Policy 
 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (Adopted December 2014) (‘the LDP’)  

Tudalen 23

http://www.cartogold.co.uk/CarmarthenshireLDP/english/text/00_Contents.htm


SP1 Sustainable Places and Spaces       
SP2 Climate Change         
GP1 Sustainability and High Quality Design 
TR3 Highways in Developments – Design Considerations 
EQ4 Biodiversity 
RE2 Local, Community and Small Wind Farms 
 
Carmarthenshire Supplementary Planning Guidance   
 

National Planning Policy and Guidance is provided in Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 
Edition 10,  December 2018 and associated Technical Advice Notes (TANs) published by 
Welsh Government. 
 

Summary of Consultation Responses 
 

Head of Transportation & Highways - recommends a condition regarding wheel and 
chassis washing facilities.   
 
Heath of Public Protection (Noise) – no request for construction hours was made in 
respect of the Construction Management Plan, however standard construction times are 
recommended.  It should be noted that the submitted information refers to the separate 
Condition 9 which sets out the permitted construction times and this discharge of condition 
is not seeking to amend or contradict the approved condition.  
 
Head of Public Protection (Dust) – has no objection to the information supplied however 
the recommendations will need to be implemented for the condition to be fully discharged. 
 
Ofcom – No response has been received to date. 
 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 

Summary of Public Representations 
 
The application was not subject to public consultation as it is not a Planning Application, 
however it was published on the weekly list and has been identified by third parties.  
 
Representations have been received from three parties objecting to the discharge of 
conditions and the matters raised are summarised in the appraisal below. 
 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 

Appraisal 
 
Condition 7 
 

The developer shall ensure that a professionally qualified archaeologist is present 
during the undertaking of any ground works, so that an archaeological watching 
brief can be carried out. The archaeological watching brief will be undertaken to the 
standards laid down by the Institute for Archaeologists. The Planning Authority will 
be informed, in writing at least two weeks prior to the commencement of the 
development, of the name of the said archaeologist.  

Tudalen 24

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-guidance-spg
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp
http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 
Condition 7 requires a qualified archaeologist to be present during ground works and 
details of the archaeologist to be provided at least two weeks prior to commencement. 
The applicant has provided details of the archaeologist so the condition can be discharged 
in so far as the archaeologist needs to be identified.  Given the fact that the work also 
needs to be carried out, the condition is hereby PARTIALLY DISCHARGED.  
 
Condition 11 
 

(1) No development shall commence until a construction method statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  

 
(2) The construction method statement shall include details of -  

 
 (a)  the timing of construction works, including the timing of vegetation removal to 

avoid the potential for effects on reptiles and nesting birds and European 
protected species;  

 (b)  the wheel washing facilities, including siting;  
 (c)  the timing of works and methods of working for cable trenches, foundation 

works and erection of the wind turbines;  
 (d)  the cleaning of site accesses and the adjacent public highway and the 

sheeting of all heavy goods vehicles taking spoil or construction materials 
to/from the site to prevent spillage or deposit of any materials on the 
highway;  

 (e)  the pollution control and prevention measures to be implemented   including  
(i) sediment control,  
(ii) the bunding of fuel, oil and chemical storage areas,  
(iii) sewage disposal,  
(iv) measures for the protection of water courses and ground water and 
soils and,  
(v) a programme for monitoring water bodies before and during 
construction, including details of the action to be taken if monitoring 
indicates adverse effects on water bodies;  

(f)  the disposal of surplus materials;  
(g)  the management of construction noise (including identification of access 

routes, locations of materials lay-down areas, details of equipment to be 
employed, operations to be carried out, mitigation measures and a scheme 
for the monitoring of noise);  

(h)  the handling, storage and re-use on site of soil;  
(I)  the design and construction methods of the site access track including 

drainage provisions, and the pollution prevention measures to be 
implemented to ensure there are no polluting discharges from tracks and 
disturbed areas including provision to ensure that no polluting discharge from 
the access tracks and disturbed areas enters any watercourse;  

(j)  the nature, type and quantity of materials to be imported on site for backfilling 
operations or construction of access tracks;  

(k)  the management of dust;  
(l)  the proposed temporary site compounds for storage of materials, machinery 

and parking within the sites clear of the highway, including the siting of the 
temporary buildings and all means of enclosure, oil/fuel and chemical 
storage and any proposals for temporary lighting, and details of proposals for 
restoration of the sites of the temporary compounds and works within 12 

Tudalen 25



months of the first export date;  
(m)  the design and construction of any culverts;  
(n)  mitigation measures to be implemented to avoid harm to protected species 

and minimise damage to Local Biodiversity Action Plan habitats. 
(o)  the restoration of the parts of the site which will be temporarily used for 

construction; and 
(p)  any other measures set out in the Environmental Report.  
(q)  specific method statements for the cut and fill operations associated with the 

access track, including details of proposals to maximise the successful 
establishment of native plant species.  

 
(3) Before any wind turbine is removed or replaced a revised construction method 
statement, dealing with that removal or replacement, shall be submitted to and 
approved by the local planning authority.  

 
 (4) The construction method statement shall be implemented as approved.  
 
There has been internal consultation within the Council and the following matters have 
been noted. 
 
Highways  
 
Wheel Washing facilities have been sought by further condition, however as this 
application is seeking to discharge the conditions imposed, a further condition is not 
possible.  The submission has therefore been amended to include the following wording. 
 
“During the construction phase banksmen would be available at the entrance to the site 
from the public road to check vehicles in and out and would physically brush clear any 
debris if present on the wheels and chasse, in addition they would also be equipped with 
pressure washers and would use these as necessary.  
 
Stone and aggregate required for the construction the access tracks, turbine foundations, 
hardstanding areas will be imported using clean materials. Contractors will ensure that 
delivery vehicles stay on the new access track and would not be in a position to drag 
unsuitable material onto the public road.” 
 
The above puts the onus of responsibility on the site management to ensure that material 
is not taken onto the public highway.  Use of brushes and pressure washers would ensure 
that where necessary, mud is removed from the vehicles exiting the site onto the public 
highway. 
 
Ecology 
 
Reference is made to the requirements of the Habitat Management Plan, however this is 
Conditioned separately under Condition 21 which would provide a more detailed long 
terms strategy for managing the site.  The CMS cross refers to this more detailed 
document. 
 
The handling of peat needs special attention and the CMS has been amended to refer to 
keeping peat in a wet condition to avoid degrading and that micro-siting will endeavour to 
avoid peat in the first place. 
 

Tudalen 26



Long term maintenance of drainage channels is sought, however this is something that 
needs to be included in the long term maintenance through the habitat management plan 
rather than being confined to the construction period. 
 
Public Protection 
 
Has no objection to the discharge of conditions in so far as the information on dust control 
is acceptable.  It is noted however that provision 4 includes the requirement for the plan to 
be implemented, so the condition can not be fully discharge until the works are complete.   
 
In respect of construction times, the report does not seek to amend or contradict the times 
set out in Condition 9 so whilst there is variance between the public protection comments 
received in respect of the discharge of condition, Condition 9 is the extant approved 
condition that needs to be implemented. 
 
Third Parties 
 
There is concern that the CMS does not address potential run off and slippage onto the 
road.  The CMS has been amended to include monitoring of the access and checking 
vehicles leaving the site to ensure no material is being deposited on the road. 
 
The CMS does not address translocation of plants along the access track. There is 
however an ecological clerk of works so any plants that may be of ecological value can be 
appropriately translocated.  
 
There is no indication of where the stone and cement is coming from – which will impact 
delivery route. The CMS states that the nature and quantity of the imported material will be 
depending on a pre-commencement topographical survey.  An acceptable delivery route 
has been determined for the largest vehicles so smaller vehicles are not considered likely 
to have a detrimental impact. 
 
Reference to the substation and cable route however this is covered by a separate 
planning application. 
 
Timing – the commencement of development within the bird nesting season would be 
detrimental to protected species.  There is reference to there being no works without an 
appropriate survey and as stated above, an ecological clerk of works will be employed to 
ensure that works are done in an appropriate way. 
 
Wheel washing is not covered.  This has been added as discussed above. 
 
It is considered that the information submitted is sufficient to PARTIALLY DISCHARGE 
the condition in so far as information is required prior to commencement. A number of 
issues have been raised which are covered by other conditions and the CMS will need to 
be implemented as set out before it can be fully discharged.   
 
 
Condition 13  
 

No development shall commence until an ecological clerk of works and a 
hydrological clerk of works have been appointed in consultation with the relevant 
planning authority.  The ecological clerk and hydrological clerk of works shall be a 

Tudalen 27



suitably qualified environmental professional and shall be retained throughout the 
duration of civil construction works on site to advise on minimizing ecological and 
hydrological effects of the construction activities.  

 
The ecological and hydrological Clerk of Works has been identified so the condition can be 
PARTIALLY DISCHARGED.  The works will need to be carried out in accordance with 
their professional advice. 
 
Condition 22  
 

No development shall commence until a scheme has been submitted to and 
approved by the local planning authority providing for the investigation of and 
remediation of any interference with television reception at any dwelling which 
lawfully existed or had planning permission at the date of this decision. The scheme 
shall be implemented as approved. 

 
A report on the impact on TV reception has been submitted and Ofcom has been 
consulted.   
 
A survey has been done based on sample locations and it does not claim to be a 
comprehensive survey of every dwelling within a specified range of the turbine locations.  
The report opines that there would not be any significant impact on terrestrial television in 
this location from the Carmel transmitter and there are also 2 alternative transmitters at 
Mynydd Pencareg and BlaenPlwyf so if for any reason one was affected there are 
alternatives available which had an acceptable reception strength. The report further 
opines that there would be no impact on satellite reception and for mitigation if there is an 
unforeseen impact would be Freesat which would allow free satellite access to television 
services.  The covering letter is clear that there is a sequence of stages to investigate any 
complaints and that the mitigation would be determined in each case. 
 
Third parties have expressed concern over the report in terms of the larger turbines that 
the report is predicated upon and the micro-siting coordinates being different to that 
approved, however the applicant has clarified that neither of these issues would make a 
material difference to the results and if anything, the assessment of larger machines would 
be a worst case scenarios as the impact from smaller machines would be less.  Any micro-
siting differences are likely to be de-minimis.   
 

Planning Obligations 
 
Not applicable. 
 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The decision considers the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG 
Act). The decision takes into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG 
Act and it is considered that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ 
well-being objectives set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 

Tudalen 28



Conclusion 
 
After careful consideration of the information submitted, it is concluded on balance that the 
conditions should be partially discharged as set out above and full discharge would follow 
provided the construction and implementation is in accordance with the conditions. 
 
 

 
 

 

Tudalen 29



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 
  

 
ADRODDIAD PENNAETH 

CYNLLUNIO,  
CYFARWYDDIAETH YR 

AMGYLCHEDD  
 
 

REPORT OF THE  
HEAD OF PLANNING, 

DIRECTORATE OF ENVIRONMENT  
 
 

AR GYFER PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO 
CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN 

 
 

TO CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL’S PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
AR  16 Mawrth 2021 
ON 16 March 2021 

 
I’W BENDERFYNU/ 

FOR DECISION 

 
 

Tudalen 31

Eitem Rhif  4



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mewn perthynas â cheisiadau y mae gan y Cyngor ddiddordeb ynddynt un ai fel 

ymgeisydd/asiant neu fel perchennog tir neu eiddo, atgoffir yr Aelodau fod yna rhaid 

iddynt anwybyddu’r agwedd hon, gan ystyried ceisiadau o’r fath a phenderfynu yn eu 

cylch ar sail rhinweddau’r ceisiadau cynllunio yn unig. Ni ddylid ystyried swyddogaeth 

y Cyngor fel perchennog tir, na materion cysylltiedig, wrth benderfynu ynghylch 

ceisiadau cynllunio o’r fath. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In relation to those applications which are identified as one in which the Council has 

an interest either as applicant/agent or in terms of land or property ownership, 

Members are reminded that they must set aside this aspect, and confine their 

consideration and determination of such applications exclusively to the merits of the 

planning issues arising.  The Council’s land owning function, or other interests in the 

matter, must not be taken into account when determining such planning applications. 

 

 

 

  

Tudalen 32



 
COMMITTEE: 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: 
 

 
16.03.2021 

 
REPORT OF: 
 

 
HEAD OF PLANNING 

 
I N D E X  -  A R E A  S O U T H  

 

 
REF. 

 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL 

 

 
PAGE NOS. 

 
PL/01050 

 

 
DEMOLITION OF NO. 8-16 MARKET STREET AND 
REDEVELOPMENT TO PROVIDE MIXED USE 
ARCADE DEVELOPMENT INCLUDING HOTEL, 
RETAIL, OFFICE AND BAR/RESTAURANT UNITS 
(CLASS A1/A3/B1/C1) 
 

 
35 - 63 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 33



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 34



 

 
Application No 
 

 
PL/01050 

 

 
Application Type 
 

 
FULL PLANNING 

Proposal & 
Location 
 

DEMOLITION OF NO. 8-16 MARKET STREET AND 
REDEVELOPMENT TO PROVIDE MIXED USE ARCADE 
DEVELOPMENT INCLUDING HOTEL, RETAIL, OFFICE AND 
BAR/RESTAURANT UNITS (CLASS A1/A3/B1/C1) 
 

 

Applicant(s) CYGNUS HOLDINGS (LLANELLI) LTD 
 

Agent ASBRI PLANNING 
 

Case Officer 
 

ROB DAVIES 
 

Ward LLIEDI 
 

Date registered 
 

12/02/21   

 
 

Reason for Committee 
 
This application is being reported to the Planning Committee  
 
* as the County Council has a significant financial interest in the application.  
 

Site 
 
The application site consists of numbers 8-16 Market Street, which are located to the eastern 
side of Llanelli town centre, effectively positioned between the St.Elli shopping centre and 
the more recent Eastgate leisure led development. The site occupies a position to the 
southern end of Market Street, close to the rear servicing yard of the St.Elli centre, at which 
point the road becomes a “dead end” for vehicles. There are some pedestrian links to the 
north and south of the application site that run in an easterly direction. 
 
The site comprises of no’s 8, 10 and 12 Market Street which are former nightclubs that in 
part front on to Market Street, whilst an element can also be accessed from the east from 
an area of public realm to the western side of the Eastgate development. These buildings 
which are part two, part three storey in scale and massing, have fallen into a state of neglect 
on the Market Street side.  
 
Numbers 14 and 16 Market Street are former public houses which front on to Market Street, 
and are again part two storey, and part three storey in scale. These Public Houses have 
been vacant for a significant length of time.  
 

Tudalen 35



The main bus station for Llanelli town centre is located to the immediate east of the 
application site at the Eastgate development.  
 
The application site is not located within a conservation area, whilst the buildings contained 
within the application site are not offered any form of statutory protection. The former 
Exchange Buildings to the immediate north of the application site however are a Grade II 
listed building.  
 
Due to the site’s location within the town centre boundary it is unsurprising that the 
immediate area is primarily commercial in character. The St. Elli shopping centre is located 
to the south west, the Eastgate leisure development to the east, whilst the aforementioned 
Exchange Buildings to the north consists of a variety of commercial uses at ground floor with 
residential flats above. On the opposite side of Market Street there are a number of other 
commercial uses including a Bingo hall.  
 
The application site is located partially within Zone C2. The Development Advice Maps 
referred to under TAN 15 shows that the north west corner of the site is encroached by Zone 
C2. Zone C2 is defined as ‘areas of floodplain without significant flood defence 
infrastructure’. The remainder of the application site is outside any defined flood zone.  

 
Proposal  
 
The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the buildings and the 
redevelopment of the site by constructing a mixed-use arcade development including hotel, 
retail, office and bar/restaurant units (Classes A1/A3/B1/C1).  
 
The proposed development as shown on the plans submitted takes the form of an arcade 
style development either side of a central, partly covered walkway. The walkway will provide 
a direct link between the southern end of Market Street and the public realm area located 
between the application site and the Eastgate development.  
 
Due to the topography of the site and the change in levels of some 4m between the higher 
southern part of the site to the lower part at Market Street, the proposed development will 
appear at different heights and will have a staggered built form. Notwithstanding this, the 
building will primarily provide two storeys of accommodation, with a partial third storey linked 
to the serviced accommodation element. It is also worth noting that there will be a part 
basement, which is proposed to house the plant room.  
 
The proposed ground floor will primarily consist of A1 and A3 units, separated by the 
communal arcade walkway. The A1 element is located to southern end towards Market 
Street, with the A3 units occupying the remainder of the ground floor. The walkway will 
provide a direct permeable link between Market Street to the north and the Eastgate public 
realm area to the south. Due to the change in levels between the northern and southern 
parts of the site the communal walkway will consist of a series of diagonal ramps, steps and 
plateaus. The ground floor will also accommodate an internal garden and store delivery 
area.  
 
It is understood that the pedestrian access through the arcade will be closed off and locked 
up upon the closure of the A3 unit whose times are envisaged to be late evening and early 
morning. The arcade will re-open at 7-8am when staff are back in the next day. The 
operation of the area will be managed by the operators of the units.  
 

Tudalen 36



The proposed first floor primarily consists of B1 office units and serviced accommodation 
rooms (C1), with the latter also extending into a section of second floor accommodation. A 
couple of the ground floor A3 units proposed to the northern section of the development also 
extend up to first floor level.  
 
In total the floorspace of the proposed development is broken down as follows:-  
 

 A1 – 159 sqm  

 A3 – 568 sqm 

 B1 – 92 sqm  

 C1 – 12 serviced rooms (it is understood that this element of the scheme is based on 
some form of ‘air bnb’ style model which would operate via an online booking system, 
and subsequently there would be a point of collection for the key via a secure box 
that uses a code. Therefore there will not be any form of face to face reception area 
required.  
 

It is notable from the floor plan drawings submitted that a number of the A3 units proposed 
already have identified and named end users.  
 
In terms of its external appearance, as aforementioned the proposed building will have 
differing heights, albeit retaining a two and three storey scale, and will adopt a staggered 
building line.  
 
It is of a purposeful contemporary design, albeit using a mixture of both contemporary and 
traditional materials. The walls are to be finished in a mixture of Welsh Larch timber cladding 
and black slate stone cladding, whilst there are also some living walls and gardens 
proposed. The roof is to be designed as a part blue and green roof to aid in terms of 
sustainability and surface water drainage, whilst a striking canopy over the arcade is 
proposed, the underside of which will be finished with timber.  
 
The proposed windows will be contemporary with use made of either black aluminium or 
upvc frames. There are a number of large window openings proposed, including projecting 
windows, which along with the use of timber louvres will aim to create interest and maximise 
natural light penetration.  
 
Members will have noted from the Planning History relating to the site that Prior Notification 
to demolish the buildings was granted under reference PL/00920, and therefore demolition 
works can commence in advance of any decision being made on this planning application.  
 
The application has been accompanied by the following supporting reports:-  
 

 Pre-application Consultation Report 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Planning Statement  

 Bat Building Inspection and Activity Report  

 Transport Statement  

 Drainage Report  

 Flood Consequences Assessment  
 
The Planning Statement states that the key elements of the design principles of this 
proposed development known as ‘Y Linc’ comprise: 
 

Tudalen 37



 Y Linc aims to interconnect the old and new spaces of the Town Centre and Eastgate; 
a sustainable gateway to Llanelli town 

 Strong connectivity and movements; and  

 Sustainable features  
 
The Planning Statement goes on to explain in more detail what the scheme comprises of 
and the benefits that it expects to bring to Llanelli. It states that the proposed development 
will comprise:  
 
• An arcade style development either side of a central walkway;  
• Direct permeability between Market Street and the Eastgate Development;  
• Bar and retail units;  
• 12 no. serviced apartments;  
• 3no flexible office units;  
• Green / Circulation areas;  
• Refuse areas and soft landscaping.  
 
The development will house several elements including:  
 
• Juniper Place, a relaxed dining, gin and fine food focused restaurant;  
• Old Havana traditional Cuban restaurant and cocktail bar;  
• Carma Coffi, coffee house and roastery;  
• Hestia Lofts, modern office space and new world desk hire service, 1 stop business hub.  
 
The application is of significant scale and comprises a development which has the potential 
to provide a wide range of benefits – both on and off site in an environmental and economic 
sense. It is seen as a regeneration project of note, largely backed by private finance and is 
a signal of confidence by the market in respect of Llanelli Town Centre. 
  
Given the scale of the proposed development and its foreseen role within the Town Centre, 
it will result in significant economic benefits. To that end, on the basis of the experience of 
the developer in operating such outlets, the development is anticipated to result in the 
creation of a minimum of 100 jobs. 
 

Planning Site History 
 
PL/00920 - Demolition of Buildings to facilitate Proposed Development – Prior Notification 
Granted 07/01/20 
 
S/17401 - New balcony added to front elevation, existing canopy removed. new doors added 
at first floor to access balcony - full refusal - 30/11/2007 
 
LL/02567 - Renewal and enclosure of existing fire escape from first floor - full granted - 
19/11/2002 
 
S/02508 - Wall mounted illuminated fascia sign - advertisement granted - 11/7/2000 
 
S/02369 - New single storey extension pitched roof extension and double storey flat roof 
extension - full granted - 3/4/2000 
 
S/02225 - New shop front for bar & restaurant - full granted - 17/12/1999 
 

Tudalen 38



S/02104 - Change of use from bank to licensed bar/club with associated facilities - full 
granted - 21/10/1999 
 
S/01982 - Extension to existing fire escape from first to second floor and new door opening 
- full granted - 14/9/1999 
 
S/01466 - Fascia and projecting signs: (1) 530mm high fascia sign with 200mm high 
internally illuminated letters and background panel halo lit from reverse of fascia panel (2) 
600 x 600mm internally illuminated projecting sign with cashpoint addendum - advertisement 
granted - 29/9/1998 
 
S/01188 - Conversion of part of dynevor castle public house, llanelli to public conveniences 
- withdrawn - 2/4/1998 
 
S/01062 - New public house entrance, alterations and additions to external escape stairs 
and associated works - Withdrawn - 5/3/1998 
 
D5/14578 - New ramp and steps to bank entrance - full Granted 31/063/1994 
 
D5/13439 - New shop front and internal refurbishment - Planning Permission Granted 
17/12/1990 
 
D5/13435 - Display of Advertisement - Consent to display advertisements approved 
17/12/1990 
 
D5/8804 -  Beefburger/Takeaway bar - Planning Permission Refused 07/11/0985 
 
D5/8745 - Fire Escape - Planning Permission Granted 25/09/1985 
 
D5/8446 - Display of Advertisement - Consent to display advertisements approved 
06/06/1985 
 
D5/7971 - Beefburger/Takeaway bar - Planning Permission Refused 18/10/1984 
 
D5/7905 - Display of Advertisement - Consent to display advertisements approved 
23/07/1984 
 
D5/5938 - Cashpoint auto-tellar in the main window - Planning Permission Granted 
10/09/1981 
 
D5/2739 - Alterations and rear extension - Planning Permission Granted 08/12/1977 
 

Planning Policy 
 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (Adopted December 2014) (‘the LDP’) 
 
SP1 Sustainable Places and Spaces 
SP2 Climate Change 
SP3 Sustainable Distribution – Settlement Framework  
SP8 Retail  
SP9 Transportation 
SP13 Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic Environment 

Tudalen 39

http://www.cartogold.co.uk/CarmarthenshireLDP/english/text/00_Contents.htm


SP14 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 
SP15 Tourism and Visitor Economy 
SP17 Infrastructure  
SP18 Welsh Language 
GP1 Sustainability and High Quality Design 
GP2 Development Limits 
GP4 Infrastructure and New Development  
EMP2 New Employment Proposals  
RT1 Retail Hierarchy  
RT4 Town Centre Zone 
TR2 Location of Development – Transport Considerations  
TR3 Highways in Developments – Design Considerations  
EQ1 Protection of Buildings, Landscapes and Features of Historic Importance  
EQ4 Biodiversity 
EQ5 Corridors, Networks and Features of Distinctiveness  
EP1 Water Quality and Resources 
EP2 Pollution 
EP3 Sustainable Drainage 
TSM4 Visitor Accommodation  
 
Carmarthenshire Supplementary Planning Guidance   
 

National Planning Policy and Guidance is provided in Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 
11,  February 2021 and associated Technical Advice Notes (TANs) published by Welsh 
Government. 
 

Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Head of Transportation & Highways – No objection subject to conditions.  
 
Head of Public Protection – No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Suds Approval Body – No objection. Advise that SAB approval is needed.  
 
Llanelli Town Council – No response received to date.  
 
Local Member(s) – County Councillors R James and S Najmi have not responded to date. 
 
Natural Resources Wales – No objection.  
 
Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water - No objection subject to conditions and advisory notes.  
 
Dyfed Archaeological Trust – No response received to date. 
 
Dyfed Powys Police (Secure by Design) – No response received to date.  
 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 

Summary of Public Representations 
 
The application was the subject of notification by way of site notices and publication in the 
local newspaper.  

Tudalen 40

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-guidance-spg
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 
To date three letters of representation have been received raising the following concerns 
and objections:-  
 

 Detrimental to the heritage of the town 

 Whilst the principle of regeneration is supported, it is considered that the proposed 
development should seek to incorporate historic buildings within the overall scheme 
of development. Whilst there seems to be no objection to demolishing the former 
nightclubs, it is considered that the former Dynevor Castle and Black Lion Inn Public 
Houses should be incorporated within the development. No assessment of how they 
could be retained and incorporated has been provided. It would be more sustainable 
to re-use.  

 Llanelli has lost a number of heritage buildings over the last 15 years already. 

 The proposed development is not sympathetic to the historic area.  

 A Heritage Impact Assessment and Archaeological Assessment are needed to inform 
the consideration of the application.  

 There is a historic ‘turning stone’ still located in the north west corner of the former 
Dynevor Castle Inn PH, which used to prevent carriages from colliding with it when 
negotiating the narrow lane turning. This should either be incorporated as a feature 
within the development, or relocated to Parc Howard Museum.  

 ‘Y Linc’ is not an appropriate name for such a development and it should be re-named 
to something more appropriate to its location and heritage.  

 The proposed development has little regard to the setting of the adjacent Grade II 
listed Exchange Buildings.  

 Is there sufficient demand for such units within the town especially considering the 
current economic climate. The developer’s business plan needs to be scrutinised 
before committing tax payer’s money to this scheme.  

 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 

Appraisal 
 
Principle of development 
 
The application site is located within the defined settlement limits of Llanelli and is within the 
defined town centre boundary as delineated within the Adopted Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan. As such there is no in-principle objection to the nature of the 
development proposed.  
 
As aforementioned, Prior Notification approval has already been given to the demolition of 
the existing vacant buildings. 
 
The proposed development represents welcomed private sector investment, supported in 
part through grant funding by Welsh Government, and the town centre loan scheme into a 
development that will provide quality commercial units that can support business start ups 
and create jobs. It is considered that the proposed scheme is highly sustainable, and will 
provide a mixture of uses appropriate to such a town centre location that will positively 
contribute to vibrancy and footfall within the town centre throughout the day and night.  
 

Tudalen 41

http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


The end product of the proposed development aligns well with the Llanelli Town Centre 
Local Development Order which seeks to reduce town centre vacancies and introduce uses 
compatible with such a town centre location.  
 
Impact upon character and appearance of the area including heritage assets  
 
As aforementioned, the LPA has received objections towards the proposed development on 
the basis that it will be detrimental to the heritage of the town. Whilst the principle of 
regeneration is supported, the objectors opine that such development schemes should seek 
to incorporate historic buildings within the overall scheme of development. In this instance, 
whilst there seems to be no objection to demolishing the former nightclubs, it is argued that 
the former Dynevor Castle Inn Public House should be incorporated within the development. 
They opine that no assessment of how they could be retained and incorporated has been 
provided, whilst it would be more sustainable to re-use. 
 
The objectors opine that Llanelli has lost a number of heritage buildings over the last 15 
years already, and state that the proposed development is not sympathetic to the historic 
area. They go on to state that a Heritage Impact Assessment and Archaeological 
Assessment are needed to inform the consideration of the application.  
 
There is reference made to a historic ‘turning stone’ still located in the north west corner of 
the former Dynevor Castle Inn PH, which used to prevent carriages from colliding with it 
when negotiating the narrow lane turning. They request that this is either incorporated as a 
feature within the development, or relocated to Parc Howard Museum. The objectors also 
opine that ‘Y Linc’ is not an appropriate name for such a development and it should be re-
named to something more appropriate to its location and heritage.  
 
Finally, the objectors also opine that the proposed development has little regard to the 
setting of the adjacent Grade II listed Exchange Buildings.  
 
This is of course an important material planning consideration and will be addressed in detail 
in this section of the report. It should be noted however, that the concern raised over the 
name of the development is not a material planning consideration in the determination of 
this application. There is a separate process to consider and agree development names and 
addresses.  
 
As already noted in this report, the application site is not located within a conservation area, 
whilst the buildings contained within the application site are not listed or offered any form of 
statutory protection. The former nightclub buildings have little architectural merit and have 
fallen into a state of neglect, especially on the Market Street side. The former Public Houses 
have more historical context, with Public Houses dating back to the mid to late 19th century 
in this location. Whilst they are more aesthetically pleasing, they have been altered over 
time, and have unfortunately been vacant for a significant length of time and as a result their 
condition has deteriorated.  
 
Members will be aware that the LPA has to determine the application as submitted, which 
in this instance involves the complete demolition of both the former Public Houses and 
nightclubs. It will have been noted from the Planning History section of this report, that the 
principle of demolishing the buildings has already been established by virtue of the prior 
notification decision made.  
 

Tudalen 42



Notwithstanding this however, it is difficult to envisage how the former Public Houses could 
be retained and incorporated within a comprehensive development scheme, one of the main 
aims of which is to create a permeable link development between Market Street and 
Eastgate. The historic character and street pattern in this part of Llanelli has changed 
significantly over the years, and that is the current position. Historically the southern end of 
Market Street would have linked at a junction with Stepney Place/Murray Street which ran 
in a east-west direction. The main change in this respect was as a result of the St.Elli Centre 
and Asda development in the 1990’s. Today the southern end of Market Street is effectively 
a dead end and is peripheral to the town centre, as evidenced by the number of vacant 
buildings in this location, including those that form part of the application site. The proposed 
arcade style, link development will re-connect this part of town with the new modern 
Eastgate development, where the main bus station is located. A more purposeful and legible 
link between the Eastgate development and the town centre at Stepney Street and Vaughan 
Street will be provided as a result. The proposed development will provide an active frontage 
on to the existing large public realm area in front of Sports Direct which is currently 
unattractive and under-utilised.  
 
In terms of the requests for a Heritage Impact Assessment and Archaeological Assessment, 
there is no statutory requirement for a HIA from an application of this nature. Notwithstanding 
this, there is a detailed section within the Design and Access Statement that provides and 
assessment of the impact of the proposed development on the adjacent heritage assets.  
 
It is noted from the PAC report that Cadw were consulted during the pre-application 
consultation process, and advised in their response that there are no scheduled monuments 
or other designated historic assets of concern located within a 500m buffer of the application 
area. 
 
The Authority’s Archaeological advisors, Dyfed Archaeological Trust were also consulted at 
PAC, and advised having checked the application proposals against the regional Historic 
Environment Record, do not consider that the work requires archaeological mitigation. 
Therefore, no further action is needed to protect the historic environment.  
 
In terms of the referenced ‘turning stone’, the LPA has drawn this to the attention of the 
applicant and asked them to confirm their intention and willingness in this respect. In 
response the agent has confirmed that the applicant is willing to either try and incorporate 
the stone within the development or donate it to the heritage society for them to re-located 
to a museum as they see fit.   
 
With regards to the setting of the adjacent Grade II listed Exchange Buildings to the 
immediate north of the application site, whilst the Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016 
made some amendments to the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990, the 1990 act is still the primary legislative instrument addressing the treatment of listed 
buildings through the planning process in both England and Wales. 
 
The way in which historic assets are assessed remains largely the same. In this respect 
Section 66(1) of the 1990 Act is particularly relevant in this instance and sets out the 
statutory duty of the decision-maker, where proposed development would affect a listed 
building or its setting: 
 
‘...in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the 
Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or 

Tudalen 43



its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.’ 
 
This section of the report will apply the “special regard” test referred to in Section 66(1) in 
considering the potential impact on the setting of the listed buildings. In doing so reference 
will be drawn to the Design and Access Statement submitted on behalf of the applicant, 
relevant legislation, and relevant national and local planning policies.  
 
Design and Access Statement 
 
As aforementioned the DAS includes a section assessing the impact on the adjacent 
heritage assets. In line with Cadw guidance, this section of the DAS first of all establishes 
the significance of the adjacent heritage asset, before going on to assess the impact of the 
proposed development on the heritage asset and its setting.  
 
The DAS states that the group of properties known locally as Exchange Buildings is made 
up in fact of a number of separate entities. In fact there are six buildings listed which make 
up the heritage asset.  
 
Exchange Buildings which is located on a prominent corner position on the junction of 
Market and Park Street was designed and built in 1915-20 as a large corner block of shops 
and offices by the well-respected local architect William Griffiths of Llanelli. These Grade II 
listed buildings are designated due them being considered an imposing early C20 
commercial building. 
 
Today the ground floor of the Exchange Buildings is used for a variety of individual 
commercial uses, whilst the upper floors consist of residential flats.  
 
In terms of the significance of the listed buildings, the DAS states that the present building 
forms part of the Llanelli town centre as it developed through the late 19th and early 20th 
Century. Essentially it was built as ground floor retail with offices above and these uses have 
been retained in various forms up to the present, until the upper floors were recently 
converted to residential accommodation.  
 
The building is acknowledged as a good example of an imposing early C20 commercial 
building with interesting architectural features substantially intact, and with good character.  
It is considered an important survivor of a significant local commercial building which are 
limited in the town. As a result, the proper preservation of the building is critical as well as 
the enhancement of its setting. 
 
After establishing the significance of the building the DAS goes on to assess the scheme 
against the Conservation Principles published by Cadw in respect to managing change to 
historic assets. The DAS states that the conservation principles acknowledge that changes 
to the historic environment are inevitable and that conservation is often more about the 
careful management of that change rather than the prevention of it. In this respect the DAS 
goes on to consider the evidential, historical, aesthetic and communal values of the heritage 
asset.  
 
In terms of evidential value, the DAS opines that the historic asset itself has high evidential 
value associated with its historic function, but opines that its setting has low evidential value 
due to fragmentation of the town caused by modern developments.  
 

Tudalen 44



Due to its historic commercial function which has evolved over time, the DAS opines that 
the Exchange Buildings has high historical value.  
 
With regards to aesthetic value, the DAS opines that the Exchange Buildings design and 
appearance has high aesthetic value to those who are aware of its historic commercial 
function, however opines that its setting has low aesthetic value due to the aesthetically 
displeasing surroundings.  
 
Finally in terms of communal value, the DAS opines that it has moderate communal value 
as many people will have some form of connection with it.  
 
The DAS then goes on to assess the capacity for change to the historic asset. In this respect 
it will be noted that there are no direct changes proposed to the listed buildings, and 
therefore the consideration in this respect relates to in-direct impacts on the buildings 
setting. In this respect the DAS opines that the current setting of the listed buildings is 
severely compromised by the surrounding built form and their condition. Therefore the DAS 
opines that any redevelopment proposal in the area will be the opportunity to enhance the 
overall setting of the asset.  
 
The DAS then goes on to define the setting of the Exchange Buildings in terms of townscape 
and settlement pattern, with reference drawn to photographs of dilapidated surrounding 
developments, including the application site, and modern imposing developments such as 
the Tinopolis Building. It then tries to understand how the setting contributes to the 
significance of the historic asset, before going on to assess the impact of the proposed 
development on this setting.  
 
The DAS acknowledges that the proposed development due to its proximity will have an 
impact on the setting of the adjacent Grade II listed buildings. The architecture used in the 
building coupled with its prominent corner position in the historic townscape at the time of 
construction would have reflected is commercial importance. The building would have 
historically dominated the street scene in terms of scale and design. This setting however 
has evolved drastically through the late part of 20th Century. The street pattern has been 
significantly altered so now the Exchange Buildings is located on the periphery of the towns 
commercial centre with much of the towns new retail/commercial development having turned 
its back on the building leaving it somewhat isolated. Access to the site is now convoluted.  
 
The DAS specifically draws reference to the scale of 1980’s built former Tesco store which 
dominates the setting, whilst the service yard of the 1990’s St. Elli Centre acts as a dead 
end and prevents active pedestrian routes.  
 
The DAS opines that the buildings contained with the application site, apart from age, have 
little significance and their dilapidated appearance is currently severely prejudicial to the 
setting of the historic asset. In this regard, the DAS goes on to opine that by removing the 
dereliction and replacing it with a modern, subordinate development, the proposed 
development will improve the urban setting of the Exchange Buildings.  
 
This section of the DAS concludes by saying that it is considered that the proposed 
development is wholly acceptable when assessed against the relevant statutory duty, policy 
and guidance. In conclusion, it is considered the proposal will not have any adverse impact 
on the setting of the adjacent Exchange Building (Grade II) and will in fact actively enhance 
the setting to remove an area of dilapidation and dereliction to create a new focus for 
commerce in the town centre. 

Tudalen 45



 
Local Planning Authority assessment  
 
The LPA agree that there is no direct impact on any heritage assets, and that the main 
consideration at hand is the indirect impact on the setting of listed buildings. 
 
Cadw’s guidance ‘Setting of Historic Assets in Wales’ (2017) states that ‘the setting of a 
historic asset includes the surroundings in which it is understood, experienced and 
appreciated, embracing present and past relationships to the surrounding landscape. Its 
extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a 
setting may make a positive, negative or neutral contribution to the significance of an asset.’ 
 
The Guidance advises that setting is not itself a historic asset, and the document goes on 
to advise that it needs to be established what the setting contributes to the significance of a 
historic asset and then evaluate the potential impact on that significance.  
 
Planning Policy Wales provides the national planning policy framework for the consideration 
of the historic environment and this is supplemented by guidance contained in Technical 
Advice Note 24. These documents are consistent with Cadw’s guidance in terms of 
assessing impact upon the setting of a listed building.  
 
Paragraph 1.26 of TAN24 is particularly useful and states that “…..For any development 
within the setting of a historic asset, some of the factors to consider and weigh in the 
assessment include:  

 The significance of the asset and the contribution the setting makes to that   
significance  

 the prominence of the historic asset  

 the expected lifespan of the proposed development  

 the extent of tree cover and its likely longevity  

 non-visual factors affecting the setting of the historic asset such as noise.  
 
Paragraph 1.28 of TAN 24 goes on to acknowledge that “….Mitigation of damaging effects 
could be achieved through good design and in some cases screening or landscaping”. 
 
In relation to the Exchange Buildings, its setting has always been urban in nature surrounded 
by built form as confirmed on historic maps. When it was first constructed however, due to 
the street pattern at the time and the fact that the buildings around it would have been 
subordinate in scale, the Exchange Buildings would have been an imposing and prominent 
building in the town. This degree of prominence has diminished over time as a result of 
modern developments, and as a result its setting has also changed in this respect.  
 
The imposing Tinopolis building screens views of the Exchange Buildings from the north, 
whilst as aforementioned, the southern end of Market Street would have historically merged 
into Stepney Place/Murray Street to the south, however the St. Elli development now 
effectively acts like a book end. The LPA agrees with the DAS that the current setting 
detracts from this historic asset and that an arcade/linked style development proposed in 
this location will allow permeability in a southerly direction from Market Street, which in turn 
will increase footfall and activity to this end of town which has become increasingly 
peripheral in modern times.  
 
The design of the proposed scheme is purposefully contemporary and contrasting in nature, 
and is therefore not trying to compete or replicate any of the intricate detail on the listed 

Tudalen 46



building. The scheme is of differing heights, is two/three storey in massing and is therefore 
subordinate in scale to the listed buildings as shown on the section drawings submitted with 
the application. The varying pallet of materials is considered appropriate within its context 
and will serve to break up the massing of the building.  The lane between the proposed 
development and the listed buildings is to remain. The listed buildings will therefore remain 
to be the primary buildings within the immediate street scene.   
 
Therefore whilst the development will affect the historic setting of the listed buildings in the 
sense that it involves development immediately adjacent to it, the listed buildings themselves 
being functional commercial urban buildings have always been surrounded by built form. 
This surrounding built form and street pattern has changed over time, to the detriment of 
heritage asset’s setting, however the LPA opines that the proposed development will 
positively enhance this side of town and in turn the setting of the listed building. The LPA 
therefore does not consider that the effect on this setting adversely affects the significance 
of these historic assets.  
 
The Authority’s Senior Built Heritage Officer has assessed the planning application 
submission, and whilst the retention and re-use of buildings, especially historic buildings, 
should be encouraged, she confirms the fact that the buildings are not offered any form of 
statutory protection. In terms of the former Public Houses themselves, she confirms that in  
her opinion they have been significantly altered externally, whilst there is a high likelihood 
that the buildings will be suffering from significant structural deterioration.  
 
In terms of the setting of the adjacent listed buildings, the Senior Built Heritage Officer opines 
that the Exchange Buildings are a significant and imposing structure in the area and is 
satisfied that the proposed development will not detract from the importance of these 
buildings. The development as proposed appears subservient to The Exchange Buildings, 
and in her opinion should actually serve to draw people down Market Street encouraging 
them to take greater notice of the retail units in The Exchange in passing. She considers 
that this will in fact be of benefit to the listed structure where greater profitability will only 
serve to improve the prospects of the historic building. The Senior Built Heritage Officer 
confirms that the DAS has adequately addressed the setting of the Exchange Buildings, and 
believes that the proposed development is of a satisfactory design in this respect.  
 
Privacy Impacts 
 
Whilst there will of course be an inevitable degree of noise and disruption during demolition 
and construction works, this will only be on a short term basis only. The completed 
development and end uses proposed are considered by be fully compatible with such a town 
centre location.  
 
The Authority’s Public Health section has been consulted on the application and has raised 
no objection towards the proposed development subject to the imposition of conditions. 
These conditions require the submission of a scheme for dust mitigation, and noise related 
conditions that restrict the timings of demolition and construction works and to impose noise 
restrictions with regards to the end use. With regards to the latter, it must be remembered 
that the existing established uses for the site are a nightclub and public houses, which in 
themselves would have generated noise late into the evening and early hours especially on 
weekends.  
 
 
 

Tudalen 47



Biodiversity Impacts 
 
The application has been accompanied by a Bat Building Inspection and Activity Report 
which concluded that there was no evidence of roosting bats externally, with no evidence 
identified internally within the former pub (no internal access available to the nightclub 
structure). The Local Record Centre data search also identified no records of roosting bats 
onsite, with the closest known bat roost located approximately 285m south west of the site 
within the former YMCA. However, multiple bat roosting features were identified on all the 
structures and as such they were considered to be of moderate bat roosting potential, and 
further bat surveys were conducted at the buildings.  
 
The subsequent dusk emergence surveys identified no bats roosting, with very low levels of 
bat activity attributed to individual Common Pipistrelle that were considered to be roosting 
in an offsite location to the west of the site.  
 
On this basis the Bat report considers that the applicant will not be required to apply for a 
European Protected Species (EPS) derogation license. It is however recommended that a 
precautionary approach should be adopted towards demolition works and a condition to this 
effect can be imposed on any planning permission granted.  
 
Both NRW and the Authority’s Planning Ecologist have reviewed the Bat report and raised 
no objection towards the proposed development. The Planning Ecologist has recommended 
the imposition of conditions relating to the precautionary recommendations, and also a 
condition relating to biodiversity enhancement.  
 
Highway Impacts 
 
Vehicular access to the site can be achieved to the north whereby the site is well connected 
to the main A484. Whilst there are no parking facilities provided within the scheme, the site 
is located within a sustainable town centre location accessible by a variety of means of 
transport. The DAS states that it is envisaged that staff and users of the development arriving 
by car will use one of the numerous public car parks in operation within the vicinity of the 
site. 
 
The site is well served by pedestrian infrastructure, and as aforementioned the arcade 
nature of the proposed development will improve pedestrian permeability to the eastern side 
of the town.  
 
The site is located within reasonable proximity to a number of major cycle routes including 
Route 4, Route 47 and the Millennium Coastal Path. 
 
The main bus station for Llanelli is located at East Gate, a short distance to the immediate 
east of the site.  
 
In terms of servicing the commercial units, the layout design and accompanying Transport 
Statement advises that this can be done from the north east at Park Street.  
 
The Authority’s Head of Highways has considered the information submitted with the 
application and has raised no objection subject to the imposition of conditions relating to 
cycle stands; Construction Traffic Management Plan and Travel Plan. The response from 
the Head of Highways acknowledges the established uses made of the site and the site’s 
sustainability credentials.  

Tudalen 48



 
Flood Risk Implications 
 
Technical Advice Note 15 Development and Flood Risk (2004) aims to direct new 
development away from those areas that are at high risk of flooding. Those areas of high 
risk are defined on a series of Development Advice Maps (DAMs) which detail three principle 
zones, A, B, C and sub-categories C1 and C2 that should be used to trigger Flood 
Consequence Assessments. TAN 15 defines what is considered to be vulnerable 
development and provides advice on permissible land uses in relation to the location of the 
proposed development and the consequences of flooding. 
The application site is partially located within Zone C2 which is defined as ‘areas of floodplain 
without significant flood defence infrastructure’. The proposed development represents a 
mixture of highly vulnerable and less vulnerable development as defined by TAN15. 
However, as the last sentence in Paragraph 5.2 of TAN15 states that “the vulnerability 
attributed to a mixed-use proposal will be defined by the most vulnerable use”, this mixed-
use development from a flooding policy perspective will be assessed on the basis of the 
most vulnerable use. As the hotel element of the scheme is considered to be a highly 
vulnerable form of development, the development as a whole will be considered as highly 
vulnerable development 
 
Paragraph 6.2 of TAN15 states that highly vulnerable development should not be considered 
in Zone C2 and that only less vulnerable development should be considered in Zone C2 
subject to the application of the justification test, including acceptability of flooding 
consequences. This was re-affirmed by the Chief Planning Officer’s letter from Welsh 
Government dated the 9th January, 2014. Therefore it is accepted that the justification tests 
in Paragraph 6.2 of TAN15 do not apply to the proposed development. Therefore if a literal 
and rigid interpretation of TAN15 is adopted, it is accepted that the proposed development 
in respect of flood risk does not accord with national planning policy as set out in PPW and 
TAN15, and conflicts with criterion ‘d’ of Policy SP2 of the LDP.  
 
Other Material Considerations  
 
Notwithstanding the above, whilst it is accepted that this mixed-use development is classed 
as highly vulnerable development and is partially located within Zone C2, and thus does not 
strictly accord with PPW and TAN15, it is opined that there are other important material 
considerations which need to be considered in the overall balance in making an informed 
decision on this application.  
 
The combined effect of s. 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S. 
70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is that the determination of an application 
for planning permission is to be made in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Whilst the previous section of this report has 
identified a conflict with criterion ‘d’ of Policy SP2 of the LDP, along with PPW and TAN15 
in terms of flood risk, this section highlights some important material considerations that 
need to be considered in the determination of this application.  
 
Planning Policy Wales emphasises that the planning system should support economic 
growth in the context of sustainable development, whilst Paragraph 5.4.4 states that: 
 
“Wherever possible, planning authorities should encourage and support developments 
which generate economic prosperity and regeneration…” 

Tudalen 49



TAN 23 Economic Development (2014) re-iterates the broad definition of economic 
development as contained within the Chapter 7 of PPW, which includes retail and tourism, 
and states that it is important that the planning system recognises the economic aspects of 
all development and that planning decisions are made in a sustainable way which balance 
social, environmental and economic considerations. 
The proposed development represents an important town centre regeneration scheme on a 
brownfield site, that will actively enhance and introduce vitality to this eastern part of the 
town which has become increasingly peripheral in recent times. The area has seen a marked 
deterioration in terms of its overall appearance and environmental quality, whilst the town’s 
retail and commercial function has suffered due to the advent of out-of-town retail, general 
decline and changes in the retail sector and more recently the adverse effects resulting from 
the Covid 19 pandemic.  
 
The continued re-development of Llanelli Town Centre is a key priority of the Local Authority 
and a dedicated Task Force for Llanelli which comprises of key town centre stakeholders 
from a mix of different organisations has been set up to seek to address the current issues. 
The main purpose of the task force is to drive forward initiatives to ensure the future success 
and vibrancy of the town centre through a collaborative and holistic approach.    
The County Council’s own strategies for the regeneration of Llanelli closely align with those 
of Welsh Government under the Targeted Regeneration Initiative (TRI) Programme which 
is aligning significant investment and resource into addressing, in particular, empty 
properties within the town centre and re-introducing a new and modern building stock to 
support a mix of end uses in accordance with the Welsh Government’s Town Centre First 
Strategy. 
Whilst the Regeneration Delivery Strategy for Llanelli town centre pre-dates this project and 
thus does not specifically mention it, it is nevertheless considered that this proposed private 
sector development will assist with the delivery of the Local Authority’s regeneration strategy 
aimed at improving Llanelli town centre. The proposal accords with the key priority themes 
and actions of the Llanelli Task Force which seeks to reduce the number of derelict buildings, 
improve the environment and improve the commercial offer.  It is understood that the 
scheme is to be supported in part by the aforementioned Targeted Regeneration Investment 
fund programme by Welsh Government aimed at improving town centres.  
Whilst the Local Authority has directly intervened to deliver sustainable change and to bring 
forward schemes at Stepney Street, the northern end of Market Street and the former YMCA 
due to a lack of private sector interest, it is encouraging to see this ambitious private sector 
led scheme, supported in part by public funding, coming forward. The development will 
provide a mixture of uses appropriate to such a town centre location, whilst it is understood 
that the intention is for several independent and operational restaurant/bar owners to trade 
from the development. This non speculative element of the scheme is encouraging during 
the current uncertain economic times that we find ourselves in as a result of the pandemic.  
In addition to improving the environmental quality of the area, and contributing towards the 
aims of creating a town centre as a location to live, work and visit, it is estimated that the 
proposed development will create a minimum 100 jobs. Such local job provision is certainly 
welcomed in the current economic climate and in this respect the proposed development 
will positively contribute towards the job creation aspirations of the Local Authority as 
outlined in its Corporate and Economic Development Strategies. In addition to the 
employment created by the end uses, it is highly likely that local building contractors and 
supply firms will benefit during the demolition and construction phases.  
This proposed development provides a striking mixed-use development which will link the 
core town centre with the newly established and modern East Gate development. As a result 
footfall will be significantly increased, and the proposal will have positive economic, social 
and environmental outcomes.   

Tudalen 50



Regeneration funding is key to unlock the development site and without regeneration 
funding the scheme will not be delivered.  In fact, it is understood that this project is 
supported in part through the Welsh Government’s TRI Programme, and also forms part of 
the Town Centre Loan scheme administered by Carmarthenshire County Council. However 
as aforementioned, the significant amount of private sector funding element involved is a 
huge positive and highlights welcomed developer interest and confidence in Llanelli town 
centre.  
Given the Town Centre location, the site is highly accessible by a range of public 
transportation options. As such the proposed development is considered to be highly 
sustainable and likely to benefit from linked trips with other operators within the Town 
Centre. The development is considered to have transformative potential in the context of the 
regeneration of the centre which as set out above is a key priority of the Council and Welsh 
Government. 
The site itself and this section of Market Street currently detracts from the town centre given 
its vacant and a derelict nature, however the proposed development will provide a modern 
development that will actively enhance and provide a positive image of the town on the 
eastern approach. 
Given the range of uses proposed, the proposed development will enable an all-day use 
and increase footfall and visitors into the Town Centre. As a result it will hopefully create a 
ripple effect which will boost nearby traders and increase footfall more generally.  
As aforementioned the current Covid 19 health crisis has undoubtedly had a massive 
adverse impact on the economy in general, and especially on our town centres with enforced 
remote working, and there are many uncertainties moving forward. In this regard the 
proposed development represents welcomed developer confidence in the town, which will 
provide commercial units tailored to some occupants needs and other opportunities for 
business start ups.  
It is also worth referring to the Llanelli Town Centre Local Development Order, the main aim 
of which was to reduce town centre vacancies and introduce uses compatible with such a 
town centre location. The Council’s objective was to introduce a permissive planning regime 
that would allow specified changes of use to take place without the applicant having to apply 
for planning permission.  
The Llanelli Town Centre Local Development Order (LDO) was adopted in February 2019 
and grants conditional planning permission for specified uses in ground and upper-floor 
units. It is envisaged that the LDO, in permitting a wide range of compatible uses, will help 
to increase occupancy levels and footfall in the town centre. Whilst it is fully acknowledged 
that the redevelopment nature of the proposed scheme means that it cannot benefit from 
the provisions of the LDO, it is considered that the policy approach adopted to flood risk 
within the LDO is relevant. 
The key requirement of the LDO from a flood risk perspective was that it only allowed 
for less vulnerable developments to be located at ground floor within Zone C2, with   
highly vulnerable developments having to be located on upper floors. 
The LDO was informed by a strategic FCA and hydraulic model that were considered by 
NRW in 2018. The FCA highlighted that the majority of the LDO area was C2 and that it was 
at risk of fluvial flooding from the Lliedi River which runs through the town within a substantial 
culvert. 
That FCA acknowledged the flood risks to the LDO area. It was indicated that the LDO did 
not comply with TAN15 tables A1.14 and A1.15, with potential flooding depths to certain 
areas of the town centre up to 1m in the 1:100 year event and 1.5m in the 1:1000 year event. 
Therefore, the FCA focussed on mitigating and managing the risk from flooding, especially 
through the management of vulnerability groups e.g. no highly vulnerable uses at ground 
floor within C2 with residential on upper floors only. NRW at that time confirmed that they 
would be acceptable to this form of mitigation. 

Tudalen 51



Table 3 in the SFCA provides a recommendation of the suitability of development types and 
NRW note that for those development classes which are highly vulnerable, the development 
will not be located on the ground floor or basement. Provided that proposals are in line with 
these recommendations NRW offered no objection to the LDO, however advised that the 
Council must be satisfied that the proposal is acceptable in terms of flood risk particularly 
regarding access and egress considerations; and for emergency planning purposes. 
 
The LDO was supported by Welsh Government who were consulted prior to its formal   
adoption.  
As aforementioned, whilst the proposed development cannot benefit from the provisions of 
the LDO, the end product of the development proposed which ensures that only less 
vulnerable development is proposed at ground floor, with the highly vulnerable hotel element 
on the upper floors, aligns with the approach adopted in the LDO which was agreed by all 
relevant parties prior to its formal adoption. This consistency in approach is considered 
relevant, whilst as will be noted below in drawing reference to the FCA submitted with the 
application, a new build allows more opportunity than a change of use to factor in flood 
resilient design measures.  
 
Flood Consequences Assessment  
 
As already noted in this report, the planning application was accompanied by a site-specific 
Flood Consequences Assessment produced by WSP, which provides technical advice on 
the acceptability of flooding consequences in accordance with Appendix 1 of TAN15. Whilst 
acknowledging the planning policy position, it is considered useful to summarise the key 
conclusions of the FCA and the expert technical advice offered by Natural Resources Wales 
in their response to the application.  
 
The FCA states that external ground levels are generally between 8.6m AOD in the northern 
edge along Market Street itself, rising to above 12m AOD to the south. The Lliedi river is 
culverted through the town centre and is approximately 150m to the south of the site at 
Mincing Lane. The flood risk to the site is therefore fluvial from the Afon Lliedi and not tidal.  
 
The FCA states that the footprint of the new development is similar to that currently in 
existence and therefore opines that there would be no increase to third party flood risk, and 
therefore no compensatory flood storage is required. The highly vulnerable hotel units are 
located on the upper floors and are accessed via a separate stairwell on the north east side 
of the building where the existing ground levels are 9.25m AOD. Only less vulnerable uses 
are proposed at ground floor. The development is in two halves split by the accessway. As 
aforementioned the existing levels on Market Street are 8.6m AOD, and the entrance to the 
development at this location is 9.3m AOD. Whilst there is a basement proposed, this is not 
underground and is openly accessible from Market Street at 9.3m AOD, and will be used for 
plant equipment and storage. The new build nature of the proposed development allows for 
opportunities to introduce flood resilient design measures into the proposed scheme.  
 
The FCA acknowledges that the north west corner of the application site is encroached by 
Zone C2, and accepts the policy position that highly vulnerable development should not be 
proposed within Zone C2.  
 
The FCA draws reference to the flood modelling work undertaken to inform the Local 
Development Order. The proposed finished floor level of the Market Street entrance is 
proposed as 9.3m AOD, meaning that it should remain dry in the 1:100 plus climate change 
event and flood to a depth of 0.23m in the 1:1000 extreme event. Compared to the existing 

Tudalen 52



ground levels of 8.6m AOD to the north, the external depths of floodwater would be 0.9m 
and 1.2m respectively during those events. The external depths of floodwater would 
therefore be greater than the 0.6m guidance in TAN15.  
 
The base of the hotel stairwell will be around 9.25-9.3m AOD to tie in with existing external 
ground levels and would flood in both events, however the maximum flood depth would be 
less than the 0.6m guidance with TAN15. The LDO modelling also considered blockage 
scenarios where a blockage on the A484 could increase water levels on site by up to 5cm.  
 
The FCA also draws reference to a previous NRW flood model. The predicted maximum 
water level in the 1:100 plus climate change event is 8.9m AOD and in the 1:1000 extreme 
event is 9.4m AOD. Compared to the external levels of 8.6m AOD, this would result in 
external flood depths of 0.3m and 0.8m respectively. The finished floor level of 9.3m in this 
location suggests that the building will remain dry in the 1:100 plus climate change event 
and only experience shallow flooding of up to 0.1m in the extreme event. The FCA 
acknowledges that the flooding information that informed the LDO is the most up to date.  
 
The FCA acknowledges that the external depths and velocities of flooding to the Market 
Street side do not accord with Tables A1.14 and A1.15 of TAN15. It also acknowledges the 
risks from surface water flooding.  
 
In terms of access, egress and evacuation, the FCA states that levels continue to rise 
throughout the communal walkway as you go southwards, whereby there is minimal flood 
risk to the southern parts of the site. Commercial areas on the first floor are accessible via 
stairways set above 9.3m AOD and can exit on to higher ground in the communal walkway.  
 
The hotel stairway to the north east, albeit more sheltered from the direction of flood waters, 
may be impeded in flood events. The existing ground level by the access is 9.25m AOD, 
and the most direct route to higher ground is passed the parking bays and up the steps to 
the communal public realm area. The FCA acknowledges that access to the hotel stairway 
is not fully compliant with TAN15, and therefore suggests that the more appropriate 
approach to would be to refuge on upper floors during a flood event until matters improve, 
or evacuation prior to a flood event. The FCA therefore recommends the creation of a 
secondary emergency access for hotel residents, which will exit into the higher central part 
of the scheme. At the request of the LPA the agent has amended the scheme to include 
such a secondary access.  
 
The application site is within a flood alert area and the FCA states that the Afon Lliedi has 
approximately 13 hour response time from onset of storm, although actual warning time will 
be significantly shorter. The lead warning time for fluvial events is typically a couple of hours 
during which evacuation process could be enacted. For no notice events or significant pluvial 
events, the FCA states that upper floors could provide refuge. 
 
Whilst there are risks to the site they are acknowledged in the FCA and through the 
mitigative measures outlined in the FCA, the FCA opines that there is potential to reduce 
the risk of flooding when compared to the existing situation.  
 
Mitigative measures include raising thresholds as much as possible; physical internal 
design/flood resilience measures; producing a Flood Action Plan (including Evacuation and 
Safe Refuge Procedures); sign up to NRW flood warning service; only less vulnerable uses 
at ground floor as per the Local Development Order; no basement levels; appropriate 
signage including evacuation procedures. 

Tudalen 53



 
The applicant has confirmed in writing that they fully acknowledge the flood risks to the site 
as outlined in the FCA submitted with the application, and has also confirmed that as 
landlord of both the commercial and hotel elements of the scheme, Flood Management 
Plans will be produced, kept up to date and communicated to future tenants and occupants.  
 
The FCA makes reference to the Llanelli Town Centre Local Development Order and its 
approach in terms of flood risk. The application site is within the LDO area, however it cannot 
benefit from the provisions of the LDO as it involves a new build development.  
 
The FCA has been assessed by NRW who has raised no objection towards the proposed 
development. In their response, NRW advise that the application site is partially within Zone 
C2 of the Development Advice Map and flood zones 2 and 3 of the NRW flood map. They 
also advise that the proposed development is a change from less vulnerable to highly 
vulnerable development according to TAN15, and refer to the advice given in Paragraph 6.2 
of TAN15 in this respect.  
 
In terms of the FCA, NRW acknowledge that the site is within the LDO boundary, however 
the scheme cannot fall for consideration under the remit of the LDO.  
 
NRW confirm that the data from the hydraulic model developed for the LDO has been used 
to assess the flood risk to the site and the FCA confirms that the proposed development is 
not compliant with TAN15 as elements of the development will flood during the 1%+climate 
change design event therefore not complying with section A1.14 and depths and velocities 
exceed the tolerance levels outlined in Table A1.15. 
 
Whilst the FCA does state that as there will be no significant difference between the pre and 
post development footprints, compensatory flood storage is considered to be unlikely, no 
figures have been provided to support this statement in the FCA according to NRW. 
As aforementioned, the positive economic and regeneration benefits of this proposed 
development are significant material considerations in the determination of this application. 
The LPA agree with the applicant that the proposed scheme has “transformative” potential 
for Llanelli town centre and contributes in a positive manner to the placemaking objectives 
of PPW and will improve the well-being of the community by having clear social benefits 
also.  
Resisting redevelopment on this site would have a significant detrimental impact on the 
regeneration aspirations for Llanelli town centre, and will result in vacant buildings being left 
to deteriorate further. Whilst the flooding Policy position is acknowledged, the LPA considers 
that the applicant has demonstrated through the submission of an FCA that the risks and 
consequences of flooding can be managed, especially when compared to the existing 
situation. The FCA has been appraised by NRW, who again whilst acknowledging the policy 
position, has not objected to the management and mitigating approach adopted similar to 
the LDO.  
Therefore whilst the FCA acknowledges, and the LPA accept that the proposed 
development does not comply with PPW, TAN15 and criterion ‘d’ of Policy SP2 in terms of 
flood risk, the LPA are satisfied that there are, in this instance, overriding “other material” 
reasons for considering to grant planning permission contrary to national planning policy.  
 
Drainage  
 
In terms of drainage, the application was accompanied by a detailed Drainage Strategy. 
Notwithstanding this, as the proposed development is over 100sqm it is understood that 

Tudalen 54



separate SAB approval will be needed and this will need to be discussed separately with 
the SAB team. 
  
In terms of the existing situation, foul drainage from the existing development drains to the 
main sewer. Existing surface water from roofs and hard paved areas also enters the 
combined sewer at an unattenuated rate. The site at present is 100% impermeable.  
 
The proposed foul sewerage will continue to be discharged to the mains sewer which is 
considered to be the most appropriate and sustainable method. In terms of dealing with the 
surface water, the drainage strategy assesses options using the hierarchical approach. In 
this respect it concludes that infiltration is not an option, whilst discharge to a watercourse 
is not a viable option as the Afon Lliedi culvert is some 150m away. As there are no 
designated surface water sewers in the immediate area, it is proposed to continue to dispose 
of surface water to the combined sewer, albeit at a reduced rate. Surface water will be 
restricted by the use of flow control devices and temporarily stored in attenuation features, 
before slowly being released into the combined system. The flat roof areas of the building 
will utilisie a blue roof system, which will allow water to be temporarily stored. The external 
ground floor entrance areas will continue to discharge at an unattenuated rate however.  
 
The proposed surface water strategy is considered acceptable in principle, subject to any 
separate consents required under SAB legislation, and will ensure that there is betterment 
in comparison to the existing situation. The Drainage Report estimates a 30% betterment in 
terms of surface water flows, whilst it is also estimated that the peak foul flow from the 
development is 20% less than historic foul flows. This ensures compliance with the CBEEMS 
Memorandum of Understanding, and the LPA’s drainage register will be updated 
accordingly.  
 
In relation to drainage it is also worth noting that relevant consultees including Dwr 
Cymru/Welsh Water and the Authority’s SAB team have raised no objection.  
 
Air Quality  
 
Whilst the proposed development site is located within the Llanelli Air Quality Management 
area, the Authority’s Environmental Health section have raised no concerns in terms of air 
quality. They have nevertheless requested that a condition is imposed requiring a scheme 
for the mitigation of dust during demolition and construction phases.  
 
The condition recommended by Highwyas in terms of a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan is also relevant, and such a CTMP could provide clarification on the routes for 
demolition and construction traffic to ensure that they avoid the key pinch point areas in 
terms of air quality.  
 
Whilst the development proposes new commercial development within the designated 
AQMA, the existing built form and established uses must be acknoweldged in this respect.  
 
Other Matters  
 
In terms of historic coal mining activity, the Coal Authority confirmed at PAC stage that the 
proposed development is outside the defined Development High Risk Area and therefore no 
Coal Mining Risk Assessment is needed.  
 

Tudalen 55



The concerns raised which questioned whether there was sufficient demand for such units 
within the town centre in the current economic climate, and whether the business plan had 
been sufficiently scrutinised before committing public funding to assist the scheme, are not 
considered to be material land use planning considerations.  
 

Planning Obligations 
 
There is no S.106 required in this instance.  
 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The decision considers the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under 
section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). The 
decision takes into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and it 
is considered that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle 
through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives 
set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 

Conclusion 
 
The determination of such a planning application is to be made in accordance with the 
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The appraisal has 
shown that the proposed development accords with the majority of LDP policies, however 
as it does not strictly comply with TAN15, Criterion ‘D’ of Policy SP2 of the LDP is not 
adhered to. In this regard, a proposal does not need to comply with each and every policy 
(or indeed each and every part of a development plan policy) in the development plan in 
order to comply with the development plan as a whole as noted in R v Rochdale Metropolitan 
Borough Council ex p Milne [2001]. 
 
Whilst the LPA accept that the proposed development does not comply with PPW and 
TAN15 in terms of flood risk, the LPA are satisfied that there are, in this instance, overriding 
“other material” reasons for considering to grant planning permission contrary to national 
planning policy.  
 
As with all planning applications, an on-balance decision must be made taking into 
consideration a number of factors.  
 
The Welsh Government in Chapter 5 of PPW defines Economic Development as: 
 
“the development of land and buildings for activities that generate sustainable long term 
prosperity, jobs and incomes. The planning system should ensure that the growth of output 
and employment in Wales as a whole is not constrained by a shortage of land for economic 
uses.” (Paragraph 5.4.1) 
 
It goes on to state that: 
 
“Economic land uses include the traditional employment land uses (offices, research and 
development, industry and warehousing), as well as uses such as retail, tourism, and public 
services. The construction, energy, minerals, waste and telecommunications sectors are 
also essential to the economy and are sensitive to planning policy” (Paragraph 5.4.2) 

Tudalen 56



 
 
Paragraph 5.4.4 states that: 
 
“Wherever possible, planning authorities should encourage and support developments 
which generate economic prosperity and regeneration…” 
TAN 23 Economic Development (2014) re-iterates the broad definition of economic 
development contained within the Chapter 7 of PPW, and states that it is important that the 
planning system recognises the economic aspects of all development and that planning 
decisions are made in a sustainable way which balance social, environmental and economic 
considerations. 
As aforementioned, the positive economic, regeneration and job creation benefits of this 
proposed development are considered to be significant material considerations in the 
determination of this application. The LPA agree with the applicant that the proposed 
scheme has “transformative” potential for Llanelli town centre and contributes in a positive 
manner to the placemaking objectives of PPW and will improve the well-being of the 
community by having clear social benefits also.  
The scheme involves the re-development of a brownfield site within a sustainable town 
centre location, and will actively enhance the immediate environment.  This part of Market 
Street has become increasingly peripheral in recent times and the immediate environment 
has suffered as a result. The introduction of this contemporary development will re-connect 
this end of the town, and introduce appropriate uses that will increase footfall and vibrancy 
during both the day and evening times. In this regard also, the setting of the adjacent Listed 
Building will be improved and the adjacent, currently unused large public realm area will be 
reinvigorated.  
The size, scale and design of the proposed development is considered acceptable, and the 
contemporary design solution using a mixture of vernacular and modern materials is 
considered appropriate for this location. The proposal is subordinate to the adjacent listed 
building.  
As aforementioned, the investment in this area of town, which is effectively located between 
the main town centre and the more modern developments at East Gate and Y Ffwrnes is 
welcomed, and will add to the vibrancy and footfall in this area and provide an important 
transitional development between the two.  
It is considered that there are no loss of amenity issues associated with the proposed 
development, whilst the LPA has not received any statutory consultee or technical 
objections. It is considered that the concerns and objections raised have adequately been 
addressed as part of the above appraisal.  
Notwithstanding the identified conflict with criterion ‘d’ of Policy SP2 of the LDP and TAN 
15, as already noted in the report measures can be introduced within the scheme to manage 
and mitigate flood risk in comparison to the existing situation. Considering all relevant 
considerations, despite the identified conflict with criterion ‘d’ of Policy SP2 of the LDP, the 
LPA concludes that the proposal does comply with the LDP as a whole. In this instance, it 
is considered that the economic and regeneration benefits of the development outweigh the 
identified conflict with national planning policy on flood risk.  
On balance after careful examination of the site and its surrounding environs in the context 
of this application, together with the representations received to date, the application is put 
forward with a recommendation for approval subject to the following conditions.  
 

 
 
 

Tudalen 57



Conditions and Reasons 
 
Condition 1 
 
The development hereby approved shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:  
Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
Condition 2  
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
following schedule of plans: 

 Location plan (011 Rev A) 1:1250 @ A4 received 24th December, 2020  

 Block plan (002 Rev A) 1:500 @ A4 received 24th December, 2020 

 Proposed block plan (003 Rev A) 1:500 @ A4 received 24th December, 2020 

 Urban grain plan (004 Rev A) 1:1000 @ A4 received 24th December, 2020 

 Proposed contextual elevations (305) 1:200 @ A2 received 24th December, 2020 

 Indicative roof plan (105) 1:200 @ A3 received 24th December, 2020 

 Proposed ground floor plan (101 Rev C) 1:200 @ A3 received 24th February, 2021  

 Proposed first and second floor plans (102 Rev C) 1:200 @ A3 received 24th 
February, 2021 

 Proposed side elevations (302 A) 1:200 @ A3 received 24th February, 2021 

 Proposed internal elevations (303 A) 1:200 @ A3 received 24th February, 2021 

 Upper and lower entrances 1:100 @ A3 (306) received 24th February, 2021 

 Cross sections 1:100 @ A2 (401) received 24th February, 2021 

 Character area plan (106 A) @ A3 received 24th February, 2021 
 

Reason: 
In the interest of visual amenity. 
 
Condition 3  
 
Prior to work commencing on the construction of the buildings hereby approved samples of 
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  
In the interest of visual amenity.  
 
Condition 4  
 
Prior to work commencing on the construction of the buildings hereby detailed drawings 
and/or specification of the green roof and green living walls must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  
In the interest of visual amenity.  

Tudalen 58



Condition 5 
 
Prior to work commencing on the construction of the buildings hereby detailed drawings 
and/or specification of the boundary treatment required to close off the arcade during times 
of closure must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  
In the interest of visual amenity.  
 
Condition 6 
 
Prior to the commencement of development, details of how the identified historic ‘turning 
stone’ is to be safeguarded and either re-used within the scheme or relocated must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  
In the interest of preserving a historic feature.  
 
Condition 7  
 
Prior to any use of the development herewith permitted, cycle parking provision (cycle 
stands) shall be provided in full accordance with the CSS Wales’ Parking Standards 2014. 
The cycle stands shall be made available, and thereafter maintained at all times, within the 
curtilage of the site. 
 
Reason: 
In the interests of highway safety. 
 
Condition 8  
 
No development shall take place until a detailed Construction Traffic Management Plan is 
submitted for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. The CTMP should also 
identify the traffic route management measures. Thereafter the approved scheme shall be 
implemented in full and as agreed.  
 
Reason:  
In the interests of highway safety and air quality.  
 
Condition 9  
 
Prior to the beneficial use of the development hereby approved a detailed Travel Plan, 
setting out ways of reducing car usage and increasing walking and cycling to and from the 
development, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The detailed Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details at a 
timescale to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:  
In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 

Tudalen 59



 
Condition 10  
 
Works shall not take place until a scheme for the mitigation of dust has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall be 
implemented during all stages of demolition and construction. Vehicles transporting 
materials which are likely to cause dust onto and off site shall be suitably covered. 
 
Reason:   
To ensure that the amenity of local residents/businesses is adequately protected from dust 
during demolition/construction. 
 
Condition 11 
 
During the demolition and construction phases, no noise generating works or demolition or 
construction shall take place other than within the hours of 07:30 – 18:00 Monday – Friday, 
Saturday 08:00 – 14:00 and not at all on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. As the proposed 
developments are situated in a mixed residential area, it is recommended to minimise noise 
disturbance that the construction work be undertaken in compliance with BS 5228-
1:2009+A1:2014 Code of practice for noise and vibration control on construction and open 
sites. Noise and and BS 5228-2:2009+A1.2014 Code of practise for noise and vibration 
control on construction and open sites. Vibration and/or its subsequent amendments. 

 
Reason:  
In order to preserve amenity.  
 
Condition 12  
 
The rating level of sound emitted from any fixed plant or machinery associated with the 
development shall not exceed the existing background sound level. The rating sound levels 
shall be determined at the nearest noise sensitive premises or at another location that is 
deemed suitable by the authority. Measurements and assessments shall be made in 
accordance with BS 4142: 2014+A1:2019 Methods for Rating and Assessing Industrial and 
Commercial Sound and/or its subsequent amendments. 
 
Such detail and appropriate consequential noise mitigation measures shall have been 
agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented prior to 
occupation of the premises and shall be maintained as agreed thereafter. 
 
Reason: 
In order to preserve amenity.  
 
Condition 13  
 
Within 28 days from the receipt of written request from the Local Planning Authority, the 
operator of the development shall, at its own expense, employ an independent consultant 
approved by the Local Planning Authority to assess the level of sound immissions arising 
from the development to determine whether they exceed the sound levels specified in 
condition 12. The assessment shall be undertaken under the supervision of the Local 
Authority. 
 
 

Tudalen 60

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030258089
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030258089


Reason:  
In order to preserve amenity.  
 
Condition 14  
 
In the event that Condition 12 is exceeded then the submitted survey shall also include 
mitigation measures to ensure compliance with the sound level specified in condition 2. 
These measures will then be implemented forthwith.  
 
Reason:  
In order to preserve amenity.  
 
Condition 15  
 
The proposed hotel rooms intended for residential purposes shall be designed so as not to 
exceed the noise criteria based on current figures by BS8233 “good” conditions given below: 
 

• Inside bedrooms at night-time: 30 dB LAeq,8 hours (45 dB LAmax) 
• Outside bedrooms at night-time: 45 dB LAeq,8 hours (60 dB LAmax) 

 
Such detail and appropriate consequential noise mitigation measures shall have been 
agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented prior to 
occupation of the accommodation and shall be maintained as agreed thereafter. 
 
Reason:  
In order to preserve amenity.  
 
Condition 16  
 
The development should be undertaken in strict accordance with the precautionary 
recommendations made in Sections 5.3 and 5.4 of the Bat Building Inspection and Activity 
Report received on the 24th December, 2020.  
 
Reason:  
In the interest of protected species.  
 
Condition 17  
 
Prior to the works commencing on the construction of the buildings hereby approved, full 
details of a scheme of enhancements, including Bat and Swift boxes, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved scheme 
shall be implemented prior to the beneficial use of the building.  
 
Reason:  
In the interest of protected species.  
 
Condition 18  
 
The development should be undertaken in strict accordance with the recommendations 
made in Section 5 the Flood Consequence Assessment report received on the 23rd 
December, 2020.   
 

Tudalen 61



Reason:  
To manage and mitigate against the risk of flooding to the site.  
 
Condition 19  
 
No building shall be occupied until the drainage system for the site has been completed in 
accordance with the approved details as contained in the Drainage Report received on the 
24th December, 2020. Thereafter no further surface water and/or land drainage shall be 
allowed to connect directly or indirectly with the public sewerage system. 
 
Reason:  
To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health and 
safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment. 
 
Condition 20  
 
No development shall take place on the application site until the applicant has: 
 

Prepared a desktop study (Preliminary Risk Assessment) which shall include the 
identification of previous land uses, potential contaminants that might reasonably be 
expected given those uses and other relevant information, such as pathways and exposure 
to potential receptors. This information shall also be presented in tabular or diagrammatical 
form (Conceptual Site Model) for the site and all potential contaminant sources, pathways 
and receptors shall be included. In order to complete the conceptual site model, it may be 
necessary at this stage to undertake limited exploratory sampling. The Preliminary Risk 
Assessment shall be submitted to and be approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Prepare a detailed scheme for the investigation and recording of contamination for the 
site (where necessary). The detailed site investigation report (Quantitative Risk 
Assessment) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The report 
shall be prepared in accordance with recognised current best practice, legislation, relevant 
guidance, documentation and British Standards. 
 

Submitted detailed proposals for site remediation and verification (Remediation Strategy) 
which may involve the removal, containment or otherwise rendering harmless such 
contamination. The proposals shall be prepared in accordance with recognised current best 
practice, legislation, relevant guidance, documentation and British Standards and shall be 
submitted to and have received in writing the approval of the Local Planning Authority prior 
to commencing the works. 
 
Reason:  
To protect human health.  
 
Condition 21  
 
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site then no further development shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, 
and obtained written approval from the local planning authority for, an amendment to the 
remediation strategy detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. 
 
Reason:  
To protect human health.  

Tudalen 62



 

Notes 
 
Note 1 
 
Comments and guidance received from consultees relating to this application, including any 
other permissions or consents required, are available on the Authority’s website. 
 
Note 2 
 
Please note that this consent is specific to the plans and particulars approved as part of the 
application.  Any departure from the approved plans will constitute unauthorised 
development and may be liable to enforcement action.  You (or any subsequent developer) 
should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations from the approved plans 
immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve the matter. 
 
In addition, any Conditions which the Council has imposed on this consent will be listed 
above and should be read carefully.  It is your (or any subsequent developers') responsibility 
to ensure that the terms of all Conditions are met in full at the appropriate time (as outlined 
in the specific condition). 
 
The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
Conditions which require the submission of details prior to the commencement of 
development will constitute unauthorised development.  This will necessitate the submission 
of a further application to retain the unauthorised development and may render you liable to 
formal enforcement action. 
 
Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any other Conditions 
could result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form of a Breach of 
Condition Notice. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 63



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol


	Agenda
	3 RHANBARTH Y GORLLEWIN - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO
	4 RHANBARTH Y DE - PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO

